
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Planning Committee 
Councillor Dudley (Chairman),  
Councillor Brossard (Vice-Chairman),  
Councillors Angell, Dr Barnard, Bhandari, D Birch, Brown, Gbadebo, 
Green, Mrs Hayes MBE, Heydon, Mrs Mattick, Mrs McKenzie, 
Mrs McKenzie-Boyle, Mossom, Parker, Skinner and Virgo 

Thursday 20 June 2019, 7.30  - 9.30 pm 
Council Chamber - Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell, RG12 
1JD 

 

 

Agenda 

Item Description Page 

1.  Apologies for Absence   

 To receive apologies for absence. 

Reporting: Hannah Stevenson 

 

2.  Minutes  3 - 8 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Annual  
Committee held on 22 May 2019 and the minutes of the meeting held on 3 
June 2019. 

Reporting: Hannah Stevenson 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest   

 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected 
interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest 
to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when 
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting. 

Reporting: Hannah Stevenson 

 

4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

Reporting: Hannah Stevenson 

 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Planning Applications 

(Head of Development Management) 
 
The conditions for public speaking have been met in the applications marked ‘PS’.  
For further information or to register for public speaking, please contact Customer 
Services 01344 352000. 

5.  PS Application No 19/00078/FUL - 115-117 Fernbank Road, Ascot  13 - 32 

 Erection of 4no. 2 bedroom dwellings with access, associated parking and 
landscaping following demolition of 2no. existing bungalows 

Reporting: Basia Polnik 

 

6.  Application No 19/00332/FUL - 56 King Edwards Road, Ascot  33 - 42 

 Erection of a two storey front and side extension, first floor side extension 
and single storey side and rear extension following demolition of existing 
conservatory, creation of balcony, replacement roof including raising of ridge 
height, and replacement front porch. (Resubmission of 18/00761/FUL for 
alterations to fenestration and first floor extension) 

Reporting: Basia Polnik 

 

7.  Application No 19/00036/FUL - North Street Garage, North Street, 
Winkfield  

43 - 56 

 Erection of 2no. dwellings with associated access, parking, turning area and 
landscaping following demolition of existing garage and hard standing. 

Reporting: Basia Polnik 

 

8.  Application No 19/00328/FUL - Holm Wood, Forest Road, Binfield  57 - 70 

 Erection of 3 no. 3 bedroom dwellings and associated access, parking, bin 
and cycle stores, following demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings 

Reporting: Basia Polnik 

 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Hannah Stevenson, 01344 352308, hannah.stevenson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so 
that any special arrangements can be made. 

Published: 11 June 2019 



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
22 MAY 2019 
8.18  - 8.19 PM 

  

Present: 
Councillors Dudley (Chairman), Brossard (Vice-Chairman), Angell, Dr Barnard, Bhandari, 
D Birch, Brown, Gbadebo, Green, Mrs Hayes MBE, Heydon, Mrs Mattick, Mrs McKenzie, 
Mrs McKenzie-Boyle, Parker, Skinner and Virgo 

Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Mossom 

1. Election of Chairman  

RESOLVED that Councillor Dudley be appointed Chairman of the Planning 
Committee for the Municipal Year 2019 – 2020. 
 
COUNCILLOR DUDLEY IN THE CHAIR 

2. Appointment of Vice-Chairman  

RESOLVED that Councillor Brossard be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Planning 
Committee for the Municipal Year 2019 – 2020. 

CHAIRMAN 

3

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank

4



 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
3 JUNE 2019 
7.30  - 10.04 PM 

  

Present: 
Councillors Dudley (Chairman), Brossard (Vice-Chairman), Angell, Dr Barnard, Bhandari, 
D Birch, Brown, Gbadebo, Green, Heydon, Mrs Mattick, Mrs McKenzie, Mrs McKenzie-
Boyle, Mossom, Parker and Skinner 

Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Mrs Hayes MBE and Virgo 

Also Present: 
Councillors Harrison, McLean and Turrell 
 

1. Minutes  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 17 April 2019 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

2. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest. 

3. Urgent Items of Business  

There were no urgent items of business. 

4. PS 18/00758/FUL Land At Tilehurst Lane, Tilehurst Lane, Binfield, Bracknell, 
Berkshire  

Erection of 53no. dwellings with associated landscaping and access from 
Tilehurst Lane. 
 
A site visit had been held on Saturday, 25 May 2019, which had been attended by 
Councillors Angell, Brown, Dudley, Green and Parker. 
 
The Committee noted: 

 The supplementary report of the Head of Planning tabled at the meeting. 

 The comments of Binfield Parish Council objecting to the proposal. 

 A total of 305 letters of objection received from members of the public, 
primarily within Binfield, as summarised in the Agenda papers. 

 
The criteria for public speaking had been met in respect of this application and the 
Committee was addressed by Mr David Phillips, objecting to the application, and Mr 
Douglas Bond of Woolf Bond Planning on behalf of the applicant. 
 
A motion to approve the recommendation in the officer report was proposed and 
seconded, and on being put to the vote was LOST. 
 

5



 

 

An alternative motion to refuse the application was proposed and seconded, and on 
being put to the vote was CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that planning application 18/00758/FUL be REFUSED for the following 
reasons: 

 
01. The proposal, through the increased quantum of dwellings over and above 

those approved in the extant outline planning permission 15/00452/OUT, 
would result in an increased density and scale of development, along with 
a greater urbanising impact, that would result in unacceptable harm to the 
character and visual amenities of the area, and the rural setting of this 
edge of Binfield. The proposal would therefore be contrary to ‘Saved’ 
Policies EN8 and EN20 of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, 
Policies CS7 and CS9 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document, 
the Character Area Assessments SPD, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

02. The occupants of the development would put extra pressure on the Thames 
Basin Heaths Special Protection Area and the proposal would not satisfactorily 
mitigate its impacts in this respect. In the absence of a planning obligation to 
secure suitable avoidance and mitigation measures and access management 
monitoring arrangements, in terms that are satisfactory to the Local Planning 
Authority, the proposal would be contrary to ‘Retained’ Policy NRM6 of the South 
East Plan, ‘Saved’ Policy EN3 of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Policy 
CS14 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document, the Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance and Mitigation Supplementary 
Planning Document (2012), and the NPPF. 

 
03. In the absence of a planning obligation to secure affordable housing in terms that 

are satisfactory to the Local Planning Authority, the proposal is contrary to 
‘Saved’’ Policy H8 of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Policies CS16 and 
CS17 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document, the Planning 
Obligations SPD, the resolution on affordable housing made by BFC Executive on 
29 March 2011, and the NPPF. 

 
04. The proposed development would unacceptably increase the pressure on open 

space of public value and community facilities. In the absence of a planning 
obligation in terms that are satisfactory to the Local Planning Authority, and which 
secures the on-site provision of open space of public value, the proposal is 
contrary to Policy R4 of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Policies CS6 
and CS8 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document, the Planning 
Obligations SPD, and the NPPF. 

 
05. In the absence of a planning obligation to secure implementation of the reptile 

mitigation strategy and off-site enhancement plan and on-going maintenance of 
the associated works the proposal is contrary to Policies CS1 and CS7 of the 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document, and the NPPF.  

 
06. It has not been demonstrated that the proposed development would incorporate a 

sustainable drainage system (SuDS) for the management of surface water run-off 
which would be maintained for the lifetime of the development. This is contrary to 
Policies CS1 and CS6 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document, the 
House of Commons: Written Statement (HCWS161) Sustainable Drainage 
Systems 18/12/2014, the Flood Risk and Coastal Change PPG updated 
15/04/2015, and the NPPF. 

6



 

 

5. PS 18/01230/FUL The Rose and Crown, 108 High Street, Sandhurst, Berkshire 
GU47 8HA  

Erection of 2no.  dwellings with associated access, parking, landscaping and 
bin/cycle storage following demolition of existing outbuildings to rear of 
existing public house. 
 
A site visit had been held on Saturday, 25 May 2019, which had been attended by 
Councillors Brown, Dudley, Green and Parker. 
 
The Committee noted: 

 The comments of Sandhurst Town Council recommending refusal of the 
application. 

 A total of 78 objections to the proposal, as summarised in the Agenda papers. 
 
The criteria for public speaking had been met in respect of this application and the 
Committee was addressed by Mr Adrian Russell, objecting to the application and Mr 
Jeremy Heppel, on behalf of the applicant. 
 
A motion to approve the recommendation in the officer report failed since it was not 
seconded. 
 
An alternative motion to refuse the application was proposed and seconded, and on 
being put to the vote was CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that planning application 18/01230/FUL be REFUSED for the following 
reasons: 
 
01. The development proposed would not provide safe and suitable access for 

pedestrians.  Also any pram, mobility scooter or wheelchair wishing to access 
the proposed properties could find it difficult and would have to resort to using 
the car park.  The development would therefore be contrary to Saved Policy M6 
of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Policy CS23 of the Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019). 

 
 02. The occupants of the development would put extra pressure on the Thames 

Basin Heaths Special Protection Area and the proposal would not satisfactorily 
mitigate its impacts in this respect.  In the absence of a planning obligation to 
secure suitable avoidance and mitigation measures and access monitoring 
arrangements, in terms that are satisfactory to the Local Planning Authority, the 
proposal would be contrary to Policy NRM6 of the South East Plan, Policy EN3 
of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document and the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection 
Area Supplementary Planning Document (2018). 

6. 19/00248/FUL - Fraser Road, Bracknell, Berkshire  

Formation of 7no. parking spaces. 
 
A site visit had been held on Saturday, 25 May 2019, which had been attended by 
Councillors Brown, Dudley, Green and Parker. 
 
The Committee noted: 

 The supplementary report of the Head of Planning tabled at the meeting. 

 The comments of Bracknell Town Council. 

7



 

 

 Three representations objecting to the proposal, as summarised in the 
Agenda papers. 

 
RESOLVED that the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: -  

 

01. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.   
REASON:  To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with 
the following approved plans received by the Local Planning Authority on 8 March 
2019, 1 May 2019 and 28 May 2019: 
4817/ 326: Proposed layout 
4817/ 326/ L: Landscape Proposal 
4817/326: Proposed layout showing transition kerb and kerb stops 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
03. The development shall not be begun until a scheme depicting hard and soft 
landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include details of the proposed maximum heights of the 
planting and include a 3 year post planting maintenance schedule.  
All planting comprised in the soft landscaping works shall be carried out and 
completed in full accordance with the approved scheme, in the nearest planting 
season (1st October to 31st March inclusive) to the completion of the development or 
prior to the occupation of any part of the approved development, whichever is sooner. 
All hard landscaping works shall be carried and completed prior to the occupation of 
any part of the approved development. As a minimum, the quality of all hard and soft 
landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 4428:1989 
'Code Of practice For General Landscape Operations' or any subsequent revision. All 
trees and other plants included within the approved details shall be healthy, well-
formed specimens of a minimum quality that is compatible with British Standard 
3936:1992 (Part 1) 'Specifications For Trees & Shrubs' and British Standard 4043 
(where applicable) or any subsequent revision.  Any trees or other plants which within 
a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, are removed, 
uprooted, are significantly damaged, become diseased or deformed, shall be 
replaced during the nearest planting season (1st October to 31st March inclusive) 
with others of the same size, species and quality as approved.  
REASON: In the interests of good landscape design and the visual amenity of the 
area. 
[Core Strategy DPD CS7, BFBLP 'Saved' Policies EN2 and EN20] 

CHAIRMAN 

8



Planning Committee  20th June 2019 
 

  
 

PLEASE NOTE PLANS FOR ALL OF THE APPLICATIONS ON THIS 
AGENDA CAN BE FOUND ON OUR WEBSITE 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
20th June 2019 

 

 
REPORTS ON PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

(Head of Planning) 
 

  Case 
Officer 

Reporting 
Officer 

 
5 19/00078/FUL 

115-117 Fernbank Road Ascot Berkshire  
(Ascot Ward) 
Erection of 4no. 2 bedroom dwellings with 
access, associated parking and landscaping 
following demolition of 2no. existing bungalows 
Recommendation:  Approve 

Sarah Horwood     Basia Polnik 

 
6 19/00332/FUL 

56 King Edwards Road Ascot Berkshire  
(Ascot Ward) 
Erection of a two storey front and side 
extension, first floor side extension and single 
storey side and rear extension following 
demolition of existing conservatory, creation of 
balcony, replacement roof including raising of 
ridge height, and replacement front porch. 
(Resubmission of 18/00761/FUL for alterations 
to fenestration and first floor extension) 
Recommendation: Approve.   
 

Antara Kumar    Basia Polnik 

7 19/00036/FUL 
North Street Garage North Street Winkfield  
(Winkfield And Cranbourne Ward) 
Erection of 2no. dwellings with associated 
access, parking, turning area and landscaping 
following demolition of existing garage and hard 
standing. 
Recommendation: Refuse.   

Paul Corbett Basia Polnik 

 
 
8 19/00328/FUL 

Holm Wood Forest Road Binfield  
(Binfield With Warfield Ward) 
Erection of 3 no. 3 bedroom dwellings and 
associated access, parking, bin and cycle 
stores, following demolition of existing dwelling 
and outbuildings 

Alys Hughes Basia Polnik 

9

Agenda Annex



Planning Committee  20th June 2019 
 

Recommendation: Approve.   

 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Background papers comprise the relevant planning application file and any document therein 
with the exception of any document which would lead to disclosure of confidential or exempt 
information as defined in section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended. 

10



 

Planning Committee  20th June 2019 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE - POLICY REFERENCES 
 
Key to abbreviations used in the following planning reports. 
 

BFBLP Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan 
CSDPD Core Strategy Development Plan Document  
SALP Site Allocations Local Plan 
RMLP Replacement Minerals Local Plan 
WLP Waste Local Plan for Berkshire 
 
SPG Supplementary Planning Guidance 
SPD Supplementary Planning Document 
 
RSS Regional Spatial Strategy (also known as the SEP South East Plan) 
 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework (Published by DCLG) 
NPPG National Planning Policy Guidance (Published by DCLG) 
PPS (No.) Planning Policy Statement (Published by DCLG) 
MPG Minerals Planning Guidance 
DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government 
 

SITE LOCATION PLAN 
 
For information the plans are orientated so that north is always at the top of the page.  
 
THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 (“the HRA”) makes it unlawful for a public authority to act 
in a way that is incompatible with the rights set out in the European Convention of 
Human Rights. 
 
Those rights include:- 
 
Article 8 – “Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home.....” 
 
Article 1 - First Protocol “Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions”. 
 
In some circumstances a local authority may be under an obligation to take positive action to 
protect an individuals interests under Article 8. 
 
The relevant Convention Rights are not absolute. A Council may take action even though it 
interferes with private and family life, home and enjoyment of possessions, if it is for a 
legitimate purpose, necessary and proportionate. In effect a balancing exercise has to be 
conducted between the interests of the individual and the wider public interest. 
 
Such a test very largely replicates the balancing exercise which the Council conducts under 
domestic planning legislation. 
 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
preparation of the reports contained in this agenda. 
 
The Human Rights Act will not be specifically referred to elsewhere [in the Agenda] beyond 
this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances which require a more 

11



 

Planning Committee  20th June 2019 
 

detailed consideration of any Convention Rights affected. 
 

12



ITEM NO: 5 
Application No. 

19/00078/FUL 
Ward: 

Ascot 
Date Registered: 

28 January 2019 
Target Decision Date: 

25 March 2019 
Site Address: 115-117 Fernbank Road Ascot Berkshire SL5 8JT   
Proposal: Erection of 4no. 2 bedroom dwellings with access, associated 

parking and landscaping following demolition of 2no. existing 
bungalows 

Applicant: Chesterton Commercial Group 
Agent: Mr Ben Wilcox 
Case Officer: Sarah Horwood, 01344 352000 

development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
Site Location Plan  (for identification purposes only, not to scale) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Bracknell Forest Borough Council 100019488 2004 

 

13

Agenda Item 5

mailto:development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 OFFICER REPORT 
 

1. SUMMARY  
 
1.1 The proposed development relates to a site within the settlement boundary and is therefore 
acceptable in principle. The proposal would result in a net increase of 2no. family dwellings to 
contribute to the Council’s housing supply.  
 
1.2 The proposal would not adversely affect the residential amenities of neighbouring dwellings 
and acceptable living conditions would be provided for future occupiers of the proposed dwellings.  
The proposal would not adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area. No adverse highway safety implications would result.  
 
1.3 Relevant conditions will be imposed in relation to biodiversity and sustainability. A legal 
agreement is required to secure contributions for SPA mitigation and the scheme is CIL liable.  
 

RECOMMENDATION  

Planning permission be granted subject to the conditions in Section 11 of this 
report and a section 106 agreement relating to mitigation measures for the SPA. 

 
 
 

2. REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE  
 

2.1 The application has been reported to the Planning Committee following receipt of more than 5 
objections.  
 
 

3. PLANNING STATUS AND SITE DESCRITPION  
 

PLANNING STATUS 

Land within defined settlement 

Within 5km of the Thames Basin Heath SPA  

 
3.1 The application site lies to the west of the highway on Fernbank Road. There are currently a 
pair of semi-detached bungalows on the site.  
 
3.2 The existing bungalows currently comprise front gardens laid to lawn which are enclosed by 
wire fencing approximately 1m high. The rear gardens extend to the west/north-west of the 
bungalows. The existing bungalows at nos. 115-117 Fernbank Road are currently at the end of a 
row of 7 pairs of bungalows (nos. 91-117 Fernbank Road).  
 
3.3 The surrounding area is predominately residential, characterised by a mix of dwellings. The 
immediate area comprises a mix of semi-detached bungalows and two storey semi-detached 
dwellings. Within the wider area, there are flatted developments and detached dwellings.   
 
 

4. RELEVANT SITE HISTORY  
 
1674 approved 1952 for outline application for 7 pairs of bungalows. 
 
6706 approved 1961 for 10 garages and access. 
 
 
 

14



5. THE PROPOSAL  
 
5.1 Full permission is sought for the erection of 4no. 2 bedroom dwellings with access, associated 
parking and landscaping following demolition of 2no. existing bungalows.  
 
5.2 The proposed building would form a row of 4no. terraced dwellings. The total width of the 
building would be 20.4m and its depth would range between 8.2m and 10.3m, with an eaves 
height ranging between 3.9m and 4.5m and ridge height ranging between 6.8m and 7.5m.   
 
5.3 Each of the proposed dwellings would comprise the following layout:  
GROUND FLOOR: hallway, WC, kitchen, open plan living/dining room 
FIRST FLOOR: 2no. bedrooms, family bathroom, en-suite bathrooms (the 2 middle plots)  
 
5.4 The proposed dwellings would be served by a shared central vehicular access from Fernbank 
Road leading to a parking area to the front of the building, providing a total of 8no. on-site parking 
spaces. Private rear gardens would be provided for each dwelling, along with pedestrian access to 
the rear gardens for each of the 4 dwellings being provided along the eastern and western 
boundaries.  
 
5.5 For information, the scheme has been amended during the course of the application with the 
ridge line of the roof of the building reduced by 300mm, along with sinking the whole building  
400mm below existing ground level so there is an overall reduction in height of 700mm when 
compared to the scheme as originally submitted. Further, the part of the building set closest to the 
boundary with no. 119 Fernbank Road has been moved back into the site by approximately 2m.  
 
 

6. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
 
Winkfield Parish Council 
6.1 Recommend refusal for the following reasons (based on the original plans) :  
“Although strictly in compliance with BFC's parking standards, in practical terms the proposals will 
result in increased on-street parking, thereby exacerbating an already dangerous highways 
situation.  Photographic evidence is supplied to support this. WPC notes that no height 
measurements are indicated in the plans”.  
 
6.2 A second comment was received from the Parish Council based on the amended plans where 
refusal is recommended for the following reasons:  
 

- It was noted that the building line has been pushed back, affecting the street scene and 
creating an oppressive presence in the line of bungalows. 

 
- It was noted that the drawings and measurements presented are inadequate and provide 

insufficient information to determine the extent to which the property will be overbearing to 
119, but it would appear that the proposals as amended will cause a significant loss of 
amenity to the neighbouring property.  
 

- Errors were noted in the topological measurements (5.8m stated instead of 8.5m). 
 

- WPC note that BFC have failed to notify either neighbours, WPC or commentators on the 
original application of the significant amendments to the plans. In any view these are 
material amendments and WPC are of the view that due process has not been followed. 

 
- WPC does not support the loss of two single storey units of social housing. 

 

15



- WPCs concerns as originally submitted stand: Although strictly in compliance with BFC's 
parking standards, in practical terms the proposals will result in increased on-street 
parking, thereby exacerbating an already dangerous highways situation and adding parking 
stress. 

 
 
Other representations 
6.3 37no. objections have been received which can be summarised as follows:  
 
Impact to neighbours  

- Proposed dwellings will result in adverse impacts to neighbouring properties through 
overshadowing, loss of daylight, overbearing impact, privacy, oppressive impact, loss of 
outlook      

- The amended plans have resulted in one of the dwellings being moved back due to window 
at no. 119 Fernbank Road but however now results in overlooking rear gardens of 
adjoining properties  

- Amended plans will block light and view from bedroom window at no. 119 Fernbank Road 
and still result in overshadowing, loss of view and loss of privacy 

 
Impact on character of the area 

- The building line of the proposed dwellings have been moved back into the site 
considerably  

- Street scene drawing is misrepresented  
- Building too high compared to neighbouring properties.  
- Development at 121-123 Fernbank Road had to dig down into the ground to make sure the 

height was acceptable.   
- Impact on character of area  
- Overdevelopment of plot  
- Development too close to boundaries and neighbouring properties  
- Proposal similar to an appeal for the demolition of a bungalow and replacement with 4 

dwellings (Sunnymead, Jocks Lane, Bracknell) which was dismissed on grounds that 
development would be out of scale and not fit with context of local area  

-  
Highway matters  

- Impact on parking provision and people have to park on street, resulting in tension between 
residents. Parking on street also causes damage to vehicles.  

- Already issue of traffic/congestion on road 
- Where will visitors to new dwellings park  
- Proposed parking spaces look tight  
- Concerned that parking spaces will not be used and people will park on highway instead  
- Fernbank Road is not designed to be a major road and is becoming dangerous – more 

housing will put extra pressure on the road  
- Cause safety issues to road users such as school children/parents  

 
Other matters  

- No measurements on drawings  
- Long history of houses/flats being built close to the site  
- Seems a precedent has been set to build large dwellings  
- Do not need more big developments in the area  
- Do not need more unaffordable housing in the area 
- Services such as schools/doctors/nurses are already under pressure without more housing 

in the area  
- Assume there is excess housing for elderly/families who require social housing to permit 

the bungalows to be demolished  
- Object to further development on Fernbank Road  

16



- Proposal is not high quality and simply getting highest value for the land 
- Is a greedy project and will have only financial benefits to the developer  
- Silva Homes should not be allowed to sell homes to developers for new build 

developments  
- Silva Homes have been underhand is selling the properties  
- Issue of how council owned homes are sold  
- People are being priced out of area. Bungalows should be kept which single parent families 

or the elderly could afford  
- 4 houses are not needed on this plot  
- Bungalows will be lost and replaced with family homes at expense of older generation, 

OAPs, people with disabilities or mobility issues 
- Proposed dwellings could become 3 bedroom dwellings or have rooms in the roofspace 
- Proposal does not comply with criteria set out in Council’s Design SPD  
- Proposal has altered from that submitted at pre-application stage  
- Neighbours have not been notified of amendments. 
- Nature of amendments should require submission of a new application   
- Planning system against the public’s interest 

 
1no. general comment received which raises the following:  

- Requested that during the build that either the boundary fence is retained or temporary 
fencing is erected to secure the site to ensure that a neighbour’s dog does not escape.  

 
 

7. SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES  
 
Highways Officer 
7.1 No objection subject to conditions.  
 
Biodiversity Officer 
7.2 No objection subject to conditions.  
 
 

8. MAIN POLICIES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO DECISION  
 
8.1 The key policies and guidance applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 

 Development Plan NPPF 

General 
policies 

CP1 of SALP, CS1 & CS2 of CSDPD Consistent 

Design CS7 of CSDPD, Saved policy EN20 of 
BFBLP 

Consistent 

Housing  CS15 of the CSDPD  Consistent 

Parking Saved policy M9 of BFBLP Consistent 
NPPF refers to LA’s setting 
their own parking standards 
for residential development, 
this policy is considered to 
be consistent. 

Transport CS23 of CSDPD Consistent 

Sustainability CS10 & CS12 of CSDPD Consistent 

SPA SEP Saved Policy NRM6, CS14 of 
CSDPD 

Consistent 

Trees, 
biodiversity 

Saved policy EN1, EN2 and EN3 of 
BFBLP, CS1 of CSDPD. 

Consistent 

17



and 
landscaping 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (SPD) 

Design SPD 

Parking standards SPD 

Other publications 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance 
(NPPG) 

CIL Charging Schedule 

 
 
 

9.  PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS  
 
9.1 The key issues for consideration are:  

 
i. Principle of development 
ii. Impact on residential amenity  
iii. Impact on character and appearance of surrounding area 
iv. Impact on highway safety  
v. Trees  
vi. Biodiversity  
vii. Thames Basin Heath SPA  
viii. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
ix. Sustainability 
x. Drainage/SuDS 

 
 

i. Principle of development  
 
9.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications 
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise, which is supported by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) (paras. 2 and 12).   

 
9.3 SALP Policy CP1 refers to the presumption in favour of sustainable development as outlined 
within the NPPF. SALP Policy CP1 states that the Council will act proactively and positively with 
applicants to seek solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and 
to secure development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions within the 
area. Planning applications that accord with the policies in the development plan for Bracknell 
Forest should be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This 
is considered to be consistent with the NPPF. 

 
9.4 CSDPD Policy CS1 sets out a number of sustainable development principles including making 
efficient use of land and buildings where it protects the character and quality of local landscapes. 

 
9.5 CSDPD Policy CS2 states that development will be permitted within defined settlements and 
on allocated sites. Development that is consistent with the character, accessibility and provision of 
infrastructure and services within that settlement will be permitted, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
9.6 CSDPD Policy CS15 requires the provision of 11,139 dwellings in the Borough over the Plan 
period. 

18



 
9.7 CSCPD Policy CS16 requires a range of housing types, sizes and tenures. 

 
9.8 These policies are considered to be consistent with the need for sustainable development 
including the need to boost the supply of housing delivering a wide choice of homes as set out in 
the NPPF. As a consequence they are considered to carry significant weight.  

 
9.9 The site is located with the Defined Settlement as designated by the Bracknell Forest Borough 
Policies Map (2013).  As such, the proposal is considered acceptable in principle subject to no 
adverse impact on residential amenities of neighbouring properties, character and appearance of 
surrounding area, highway safety implications, etc. 
 
 

ii. Residential amenity  
 
9.10 The proposed building would be set 1.3m from the boundary with no. 113 Fernbank Road, 
with a 2.8m separation distance between the flank wall of the proposed dwelling and the flank wall 
of no. 113 at the closest point. The front elevation of the proposed building would be set back 4m 
from the front elevation of no. 113 so that no overbearing impact or loss of daylight would result to 
the front elevation of no. 113. To the rear, the proposed building would project 4.8m beyond the 
rear elevation of no. 113. Whilst this projection would appear visible when viewed from the rear 
elevation and rear garden of no. 113, the roof the proposed building would hip away from the 
boundary with no. 113 and there is an existing outbuilding at no. 113 set on the boundary with the 
application site which would act as an intervening structure so that the proposed building would 
not appear so unduly overbearing to the detriment of no. 113 as to warrant refusal of the 
application.  
 
9.11 The projection of the proposed building beyond the rear elevation of no. 113 would not result 
in an adverse loss of daylight to existing rear facing windows, not infringing on a 45 degree angle 
taken from the midpoint of the existing window at no. 113 closest to the boundary with the 
application site, in accordance with the BRE standards. Further, due to the positioning of the rear 
building line of the dwelling closest to no. 113 set back from the rear elevation of no. 113, rear 
facing windows as proposed would have oblique views over the rear garden of the adjoining 
dwelling but due to the set back, not over their most private amenity space closest to the rear 
elevation of no. 113.   
 
9.12 1no. window is proposed in the flank wall of the building at ground floor level facing no. 113. 
A planning condition is recommended to remove permitted development rights for the installation 
of windows in the flank wall of the building at first floor level and above facing no. 113 in the 
interests of their residential amenity.  
 
9.13 The proposed building would be set some 11m from the side boundary of the rear garden of 
no. 111 Fernbank Road. Whilst the proposed building would be visible when viewed from the rear 
garden of no. 111, given the 11m separation distance with the rear garden of no. 113 as an 
intervening feature in-between, it would not appear unduly overbearing or result in loss of daylight 
to no. 111.  
 
9.14 The proposed building would be set 1.4m from the boundary with no. 119 Fernbank Road, 
with a 1.8m separation distance between the flank wall of the proposed dwelling and the flank wall 
of no. 119 at the closest point. The front elevation of the proposed building would be set back 
between 3.2m and 5.2m from the front elevation of no. 119 so that no overbearing impact or loss 
of daylight would result to the front elevation of no. 119. To the rear, the proposed building would 
project 2.6m beyond the rear elevation at no. 119 taken at ground floor level and from the rear 
elevation of the existing walk-out balcony at first floor level. The roof of part of the proposed 
building closest to the boundary with no. 119 would be subordinate with the ridge line of the roof 

19



set 0.7m lower than the main ridge line, with the roof hipping away from the boundary with no. 119. 
In view of the projection of the proposed building beyond the rear elevation of no 119, the 
subordinate ridge height and the roof hipping away from the boundary with no. 119, the proposed 
building would not appear so unduly overbearing to the detriment of no. 119. Further, the 
projection of the proposed building beyond the rear elevation of no. 119 would not result in an 
adverse loss of daylight to existing rear facing windows (including patio doors leading onto a 
balcony at first floor level), not infringing on a 45 degree angle take from the midpoint of existing 
windows at no. 119 closest to the boundary with the application site, in accordance with the BRE 
standards. 
 
9.15 There is an existing side facing window at first floor level in the flank wall of no. 119 facing the 
application site. This window serves a bedroom and is the primary and only source of light for this 
existing window. The scheme as originally proposed would have resulted in an unacceptable loss 
of daylight to this existing window. To address this, the front elevation of the proposed dwelling 
adjoining the boundary with no. 119 has been set back from its original siting by 2.2m so as to 
ensure that the existing window is not directly blocked by this particular plot, along with a reduction 
in the ridge height so that the height would sit lower than the main ridge line. Further, the 
separation distance between the flank wall of the proposed dwelling and the flank wall of no. 119 
at the closest point and the roof hipping away from the boundary with no. 119, along with the 
existing window being at no. 119 being at first floor level, taking into account all of these factors, it 
is not considered that the loss of daylight to this existing window would be so significant as to be 
harmful to the residential amenities of no. 119.  
 
9.16 1no. window is proposed in the flank wall of the building at ground floor level facing no. 119. 
A planning condition is recommended to remove permitted development rights for the installation 
of windows in the flank wall of the building at first floor level and above facing no. 119 in the 
interests of their residential amenity.  
 
9.17 Further, due to the positioning of the rear building line of the dwelling closest to no. 119 set 
back from the rear elevation of no. 119, rear facing windows as proposed would have oblique 
views over the rear garden of the adjoining dwelling but due to the set back, not over their most 
private amenity space closest to the rear elevation of no. 119.   
 
9.18 Outline planning permission was granted for the redevelopment of no. 119 Fernbank Road for 
the erection of a pair of semi-detached dwellings. This permission was granted in 2014, however 
has now expired and as such, no longer forms a material consideration to the determination of this 
application.   
 
9.19 There would be approximately 38m separation distance between the front elevation of the 
proposed building and existing dwellings directly opposite to the south/south-east of the site (nos. 
170-174 Fernbank Road). In view of these separation distances, the proposed building would not 
result in overlooking/loss of privacy or appear visually intrusive to existing dwellings to the 
south/south-east.  
 
9.20 There are no dwellings directly to the rear of the site; as such, the proposal would not result in 
any impacts to existing dwellings/buildings to the rear.  
 
9.21 As such, the proposal would not be considered to adversely affect the residential amenities of 
neighbouring dwellings and would be in accordance with Saved Policies EN20 and EN25 of the 
BFBLP and the NPPF. 
 
 

iii. Impact on character and appearance of surrounding area 
 

20



9.22 The Council adopted the Design SPD in March 2017 which seeks to secure good design and 
high quality development. The Design SPD sets out a number of recommendations that are 
relevant to the proposed development. Of particular relevance are the following recommendations: 
- The form of new buildings, including roof should relate well to those found in the local context; 
- Frontages should relate to the context of the area, in particular the relationships between existing 
building lines, set backs, landscaping and the continuity of the frontage; 
- Design buildings to reflect attractive qualities of local form of housing 
- All entrances should be from the street frontage;  
- Parking for houses should not dominate the streetscene.   
- Site dwellings so that all of their associated requirements, including outdoor space, parking and 
waste and recycling storage/collection can also be arranged appropriately within a plot and 
function well for the end user.   
 
9.23 The site lies in a predominantly residential area with a mix of housing age, type and style.  
Immediately adjacent to the site on Fernbank Road are pairs of bungalows, along with two storey 
semi-detached dwellings and within the wider area, flatted developments. Therefore whilst the 
area is residential in character there is no predominant pattern of development or housing style in 
the local area. The proposal for a row of 4no. two storey terraced dwellings would not detract from 
the character of the area.   
 
9.24 The proposed development would result in the demolition of existing bungalows and their 
replacement with two storey dwellings. Whilst the bulk and massing of the proposed building would 
increase when viewed against the dwellings it would replace, the eaves height of the proposed 
building would be relatively low with a modest roof profile, with no second floor accommodation 
proposed in the roofspace.  
 
9.25 In an appeal decision relating to nos. 121-123 Fernbank Road, LPA ref: 12/00548/OUT for 
the erection of 1 no. detached and 1 no. pair of semi-detached dwellings which was allowed on 
appeal, the following paragraphs are of relevance to this current application.  
 

- Para 11 states: “There is no policy related or other objection to the demolition of the 
existing buildings, and their replacement by somewhat larger and higher dwellings, 
provided that would not harm the character or appearance of the area or the street scene”.  

- Para 14 goes onto state “there is nothing in national or development plan policies which 
requires the replacement of old bungalows by new bungalows, and many dwellings in this 
part of Fernbank Road have 2 storeys…2 storeys with rooms in the roof space”. 

 
9.26 Whilst it is acknowledged that existing bungalows would be demolished and replaced with 
two storey dwellings and is a matter which letters of objection raise, as per the above appeal 
decision, there are no policy requirements for bungalows to be replaced by a similar style/size of 
housing. As Fernbank Road is characterised by a mix of housing types, the proposed scale of 
development would not appear out of keeping in the street scene.  
 
 

21



 
 
 
 
9.27 The proposed front building line would be set back between 11m and 14m from the front 
boundary of the site, resulting in the building also being set back beyond the front elevations of 
adjoining dwellings at nos. 113 and 119 Fernbank Road. Dwellings in the immediate area are set 
well back from the street which creates a spacious setting. The proposed set back of the building 
from both the front boundary of the site and front elevations of nos. 113 and 119 would mitigate 
the increase in bulk and massing of the building when travelling along Fernbank Road so the 
proposed building would not appear so visually prominent in the street scene to the detriment of 
the visual amenities of the area. There is no uniformity to the building lines of dwellings on 
Fernbank Road and the proposed building would therefore not detract from the visual amenities of 
the area.  
 
9.28 The ridge height of the proposed dwellings would exceed the ridge height of the existing 
bungalows at nos. 111 and 113 Fernbank Road and the two storey dwelling at no. 119 Fernbank 
Road, however the proposed ridge line of the building has been reduced from that originally 
submitted, with an overall reduction in the ridge height of 0.7m so that the building would be a 
maximum of 7.5m high. The building would stand two storeys high, with it proposed to be sunk into 
the ground by 0.4m. As shown on the proposed streetscene drawing, the building would follow the 
same ridge height as the existing pair of semi-detached dwellings at nos. 121 and 121A Fernbank 
Road. Further, the ridge line of the plot closest to no. 119 Fernbank Road appears subordinate to 
the main ridge line of the building with it set 0.7m lower and this plot would also be set further back 
into the site so as to break up the bulk and massing of the overall building. As such, whilst it is 
acknowledged that the proposed dwellings would exceed the height of the immediate dwellings at 
nos. 113 and 119, they would assimilate well with the more recent development at nos. 121 and 
121A and 123 and the ridge height would therefore be acceptable when viewed in the context of 
the wider streetscene.  
 

22



9.29 The density of the proposal would be 37 dwellings per hectare which is considered to be an 
efficient use of land on a previously developed site located within the settlement boundary. The 
level of development proposed is not considered to represent overdevelopment of the site. The 
proposal would result in the net gain of 2no. dwellings in the Borough, with adequate space 
retained between the proposed dwellings and adjoining buildings – there would be 2.8m between 
the flank wall of the proposed building and the flank wall of no. 113 and 1.8m between the flank 
wall of the proposed building and the flank wall of no. 119 at the closest point which would allow 
views through between the buildings to the rear of the site. Appropriate rear sized gardens would 
be provided (approximately 5m wide and 22m deep) for each plot which would not be dissimilar in 
size to existing plots within the area; along with the provision of sufficient on-site parking in 
accordance with the Council’s Parking Standards SPD. Further, pedestrian access to the rear 
gardens of each dwelling would be provided for bin/cycle storage. The NPPF refers to the effective 
use of land and it is considered that this proposal would comply with this objective with the benefit 
of a net gain of 2no. dwellings within the settlement boundary.  
 
9.30 The proposed dwellings would comprise front facing gables on plots 1 and 4, along with 
entrance canopies and architectural detailing by way of stone headers and cills to windows. The 
proposed dwellings would reflect the design elements of the newer houses at nos. 121 to 125 
Fernbank Road and Quadrella Gardens and would therefore assimilate well into the streetscene. 
Within the wider streetscene, the design of the proposed dwellings would also replicate features 
seen at Barkers Meadow and Eastcote Place which include front facing gables and dormer 
windows. A planning condition is recommended which will require details of materials to be 
submitted to the LPA for approval and it is noted that there are no uniform types of brick/roof tiles 
along Fernbank Road.  
 

 
 
9.31 To the front of the proposed building, on-site parking for 8no. vehicles would be provided, 
with some soft landscaping proposed behind the parking spaces and also facing onto Fernbank 
Road. Whilst the proposed parking layout would be a dominant feature to the front of the building, 
the parking layout as proposed is similar to that at nos. 121 to 125 Fernbank Road and Quadrella 
Gardens. Areas of grass verge sited outside of the application site abutting the public footpath 
would be retained in part following the creation of a new vehicular access onto Fernbank Road 
which would provide some further softening to the proposed parking area. As such, it is not 
considered that the proposed parking layout would adversely detract from the visual amenities of 
the surrounding area. A planning condition is recommended requiring details of hard and soft 
landscaping to be submitted for approval in the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 

23



9.32 As such, the development would not result in an adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the area and would be in accordance with Saved Policy EN20 of the BFBLP, Policy 
CS7 of CSDPD and the NPPF. 
 
 

iv. Transport implications  
 

Access 
9.33 The 4no. proposed dwellings would take access off Fernbank Road, a local distributor road, 
which is subject to a 30mph speed limit. There is some traffic-calming in the form of a priority 
feature around 100m south of the proposed site access. There is a footway fronting the site.  
 
9.34 There are no parking restrictions along this part of Fernbank Road, and there is a parking lay-
by on the eastern side of Fernbank Road (around 20m north of the proposed site access), which is 
an indication of parking demands in the area. A number of properties have limited, or no off-street 
parking (though the lay-by includes some dropped kerbs, and whilst this reduces the on-street 
parking capacity; these provide access to off-street parking). On-street parking has been observed 
along Fernbank Road, including parking on verges in front of the bungalows (including the two 
bungalows which are to be demolished with this planning application), and which have no off-
street parking.  
 
9.35 A new vehicular access is proposed for access to a parking area, and sight-lines of 2.4m by 
43m could be achieved to either side of the access (within the highway), in line with the 
requirements for a 30mph speed limit road. The proposed parking and access layout would enable 
vehicles to turn within the site to exit onto this classified road in a forward gear (which is a highway 
safety requirement for a new vehicular access onto a classified road). It is advised that there 
should not be any gates at the access to avoid conflict, and this should be secured via planning 
condition. 
 
9.36 A 7.5m wide dropped kerb vehicular access is proposed, as measured off the Proposed Site 
Plan, which would enable two cars to pass. Whilst this would reduce the on-street kerb-space for 
parking, two existing bungalows are to be demolished with this planning application; and the 
associated on-street parking demand which could occur would be removed. 
 
9.37 The presence of the verge and the proposed post and rail fencing would provide suitable 
visibility between vehicles exiting the access and pedestrians using the footway. Pedestrian vision 
splays should be secured via planning condition to be kept at or below 600mm for safety between 
vehicles exiting the access, and pedestrians using the footway fronting the site. 
 
9.38 Pedestrian paths are proposed to either side of the car parking area which provide separate 
pedestrian access from the footway to the front door of each dwelling, and for a cyclist pushing 
their bike. Also, rear pedestrian access is proposed which would allow access to rear external 
cycle stores and bin stores. New residents would be able to haul their wheelie bins to the kerbside 
for collection, and a refuse vehicle would not need to enter the site. 
 
9.39 Two of these parking spaces are tight to the access, and whilst this could result in conflict 
between vehicles manoeuvring in and out of these spaces, and vehicles entering and exiting the 
access, the potential for conflict is low; and it is noted that a similar access/parking has been 
approved at nearby Quadrella Gardens for a larger development. Generally, the proposed access 
layout, including the pedestrian paths is similar to the nearby Quadrella Gardens (planning 
permission: 08/00263/FUL). 
 
9.40 A domestic delivery vehicle would be unable to access and turn on the site; though domestic 
deliveries could occur from the roadside. 
 

24



Parking 
9.41 8 car parking spaces are proposed, in line with the Council's parking standards for 4 no. 2-
bed dwellings, and it is advised that parking spaces should be allocated to each dwelling. The 
parking spaces would be 2.4m by 4.8m, in line with the Council's requirements, and 7.5m of 
access space/manoeuvring space is to be provided to enable vehicles to manoeuvre in and out of 
spaces and exit onto the highway in forward gear. 2 of the parking spaces nearest to the 
properties are adjacent to paths which will assist access for disabled users. The parking layout is 
similar to the nearby Quadrella Gardens. 
 
9.42 There is no dedicated visitor parking within the site. As the proposal is for under 5 units, there 
is no requirement for visitor parking to be provided on site as set out in the Parking Standards 
SPD.  Cycle parking could be provided within external stores in the rear gardens and details of 
cycle parking should be secured via planning condition. 
 
Trips 
9.43 These four proposed dwellings are likely to generate a total of 24 two-way movements over 
the course of a typical day, including two or three movements in both peak periods, and this would 
have a nominal traffic impact. Also, not all trips would be by private car bearing in mind nearby 
local facilities and bus services. This proposal for four new dwellings is likely to generate an 
additional 12 movements per day taking into consideration the two existing dwellings which are to 
be removed. Construction traffic, including site deliveries and contractor parking could be dealt 
with via planning condition. 
 
9.44 Subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with 
CS23 of the CSDPD, Saved Policy M9 of the BFBLP and the NPPF and would not result in 
highway implications. 
 
 

v. Biodiversity implications  
 

9.45 A preliminary bat and field walkover survey was submitted as part of the application.  
 

9.46 The report concludes that the two bungalows that would be demolished have negligible 
potential for roosting bats but does make recommendations for a precautionary approach to 
protect great crested newts.  
 
9.47 Planning conditions are recommended in relation to protecting and enhancing biodiversity on 
site, including a condition to secure all ecological measures/works being undertaken in accordance 
with the submitted ecological survey, details of boundary treatment and biodiversity enhancements 
(native planting, bird nest boxes, integrated bat tube and hedgehog access).  
 
9.48 Subject to the imposition of these conditions, the proposal would protect and enhance 
biodiversity in line with CSDPD Policies CS1 and CS7 and the NPPF.  

 
 

vi. Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area  
 

9.49 The Council, in consultation with Natural England, has formed the view that any net increase 
in residential development between 400m and 5km straight-line distance from the Thames Basin 
Heath Special Protection Area (SPA) is likely to have a significant effect on the integrity of the 
SPA, either alone or in-combination with other plans or projects. An Appropriate Assessment has 
been carried out including mitigation requirements.  
 

25



9.50 This site is located approximately 4.5km from the boundary of the SPA and therefore is likely 
to result in an adverse effect on the SPA, unless it is carried out together with appropriate 
avoidance and mitigation measures. 
 
9.51 On commencement of the development, a contribution (calculated on a per-bedroom basis) is 
to be paid to the Council towards the cost of measures to avoid and mitigate against the effect 
upon the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, as set out in the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area Avoidance and Mitigation Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and the 
Planning Obligations SPD. The strategy is for relevant developments to make financial 
contributions towards the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs) in 
perpetuity as an alternative recreational location to the SPA and financial contributions towards 
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) measures. The Council will also make a 
contribution towards SANG enhancement works through Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
payments whether or not this development is liable to CIL. 
 
9.52 In this instance, the development would result in a net increase of 4 X 2 bedroom dwellings 
replacing the existing 2 X 2 bedroom dwellings which results in a total SANG contribution of 
£10,386.  
 
9.53 The development is required to make a contribution towards Strategic Access Management 
and Monitoring (SAMM) which will is also calculated on a per bedroom basis. Taking account of 
the per bedroom contributions this results in a total SAMM contribution of £1,052. 
 
9.54 The total SPA related financial contribution for this proposal is £11,438. The applicant must 
agree to enter into a S106 agreement to secure this contribution and a restriction on the 
occupation of each dwelling until the Council has confirmed that open space enhancement works 
to a SANG is completed. Subject to the completion of the S106 agreement, the proposal would not 
lead to an adverse effect on the integrity of the SPA and would comply with SEP Saved Policy 
NRM6, Saved policy EN3 of the BFBLP and CS14 of CSDPD, the Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area Avoidance and Mitigation SPD, the Planning Obligations SPD and the NPPF. The 
Applicant has agreed to enter into a S106 agreement to secure these contributions.  

 
 

vii. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
 

9.55 Bracknell Forest Council commenced charging for its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 
6th April 2015. CIL applies to new builds including those that involve the creation of additional 
dwellings.  
 
9.56 CIL is applied as a charge on each square metre of new development. The amount payable 
varies depending on the location of the development within the borough and the type of 
development. The charging schedule states how much CIL will be charged (in pounds per square 
metre of net additional floorspace) based on the development type and location within the 
borough.  

 
9.57 The proposal would be CIL liable. 
 
 

viii. Energy sustainability  
 
9.58 Policy CS10 of the CSDPD requires the submission of a Sustainability Statement in relation 
to water usage. No Sustainability Statement has been submitted, however a planning condition is 
recommended in relation to the submission of a Sustainability Statement to satisfy the 
requirements of Policy CS10 of the CSDPD. 
 

26



9.59 Policy CS12 requires the submission of an Energy Demand Assessment in relation to 10% 
offset by renewable energy source. No Energy Demand Assessment has been submitted. A 
planning condition is recommended in relation to the submission of an Energy Demand 
Assessment to satisfy the requirements of Policy CS12 of the CSDPD. 

 
 

ix. Drainage  
 
9.60 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1. A condition is recommended to ensure 
that the hard surfaced areas proposed for access and on-site parking/turning are SuDS compliant.  
 
 

10. CONCLUSIONS 
 

10.1 The proposed development relates to a site within the settlement boundary and is therefore 
acceptable in principle. The proposal would result in a net increase of 2no. family dwellings to 
contribute to the Council’s housing supply.  
 
10.2 The proposal would not adversely affect the residential amenities of neighbouring dwellings 
and acceptable living conditions would be provided for future occupiers of the proposed dwellings.  
The proposal would not adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area. No adverse highway safety implications would result.  
 
10.3 Relevant conditions will be imposed in relation to biodiversity and sustainability.  
 
10.4 A legal agreement is required to secure contributions for SPA mitigation and the scheme is 
CIL liable.  
 
10.5 The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to the completion of a legal 
agreement. 
 
 

11. RECOMMENDATION  
 
11.1 Following the completion of planning obligation(s) under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 relating to measures to avoid and mitigate the impact of residential 
development upon the Thames Basins Heath Special Protection Area (SPA);  

 
That the Head of Planning be authorised to APPROVE the application subject to the following 
conditions:-  
 
01. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 

REASON:  To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

 
02. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the following 
approved plans received by the Local Planning Authority on 26 April 2019:  
 
Drawing no. 100 Rev 01  
Drawing no. 101 Rev 01  
Drawing no. 200 Rev 01  
Drawing no. 201 Rev 01  
Drawing no. 202 Rev 01  

27



Drawing no. 300 Rev 01  
Drawing no. 301 Rev 01  
Drawing no. 310 Rev 01  
 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
03. The development hereby permitted shall not be begun until details of the materials to be used 
in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20, CSDPD CS7] 
 
04. The development hereby permitted shall not be begun until details showing the finished floor 
levels of the building hereby approved in relation to a fixed datum point have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: In the interests of the character of the area. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20, CSDPD CS7] 
 
05. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no additional windows, similar openings or enlargement thereof shall be 
constructed at first floor level or above in the side elevations of the dwellings hereby permitted 
except for any which may be shown on the approved drawings. 
REASON: To prevent the overlooking of neighbouring properties.  
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20] 
 
06. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a scheme depicting hard and soft 
landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include a 3 year post planting maintenance schedule. All planting comprised in the 
soft landscaping works shall be carried out and completed in full accordance with the approved 
scheme, in the nearest planting season (1st October to 31st March inclusive) to the completion of 
the development or prior to the occupation of any part of the approved development, whichever is 
sooner.  All hard landscaping works shall be carried and completed prior to the occupation of any 
part of the approved development. As a minimum, the quality of all hard and soft landscape works 
shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 4428:1989 'Code Of practice For General 
Landscape Operations' or any subsequent revision. All trees and other plants included within the 
approved details shall be healthy, well formed specimens of a minimum quality that is compatible 
with British Standard 3936:1992 (Part 1) 'Specifications For Trees & Shrubs' and British Standard 
4043 (where applicable) or any subsequent revision.  Any trees or other plants which within a 
period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, are removed, uprooted, are 
significantly damaged, become diseased or deformed, shall be replaced during the nearest 
planting season (1st October to 31st March inclusive) with others of the same size, species and 
quality as approved. The areas shown for landscaping shall thereafter be retained. 
REASON: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.  
[Relevant Plans and Policies: BFBLP EN20, CSDPD CS7] 
 
07. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of a scheme of walls, fences 
and any other means of enclosure have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All boundary treatments should provide for the free movement of wildlife to and 
from the site. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full before the first occupation of any 
dwelling hereby approved. 

28



REASON:  In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and in the interests of nature 
conservation.  
[Relevant Plans and Policies: BFBLP EN20, CSDPD CS1, CS7] 
 
08. The development hereby permitted shall not be begun until a Sustainability Statement covering 
water efficiency aimed at achieving an average water use in new dwellings of 110 
litres/person/day, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the Sustainability Statement, as 
approved, and retained as such thereafter.  
REASON: In the interests of sustainability and the efficient use of resources. 
[Relevant Policy: CSDPD CS10] 
 
09. The development hereby permitted shall not be begun until an Energy Demand Assessment 
demonstrating that a proportion of the development's energy requirements will be provided from 
on-site renewable energy production (which proportion shall be 10%) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the Energy Demand Assessment as approved and retained as such thereafter.  
REASON: In the interests of the sustainability and the efficient use of resources. 
[Relevant Plans and Policies: CSDPD Policy CS12] 
 
10. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a means of vehicular access has 
been constructed in accordance with the approved plans before the first occupation of any 
dwelling hereby approved and retained as such thereafter.  
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
[Relevant Policies: CSDPD CS23] 
 
11. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until visibility splays of 2.0 metres by 2.0 
metres have been provided at the junction of the driveway and the adjacent footway before the 
first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved. The dimensions shall be measured along the 
edge of the drive and the back of the footway from their point of intersection.  The visibility splays 
shall at all times thereafter be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 0.6 metres 
measured from the surface of the carriageway. 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
[Relevant Policies: CSDPD CS23] 
 
12. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the associated vehicle parking and 
turning space has been surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawings 
before the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved. The spaces shall thereafter be kept 
available for parking at all times. 
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate car parking to prevent the 
likelihood of on-street car parking which would be a danger to other road users. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP M9, CSDPD CS23] 
 
13. The dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until secure and covered parking for 

bicycles has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
facilities shall be provided before the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved and 
thereafter retained as such. 
REASON: To ensure bicycle facilities are provided. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP M9, CSDPD CS23] 

 
14. No gates shall be provided at the vehicular access to the site. 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
[Relevant Policies: CSDPD CS23] 
 

29



15. The development hereby permitted shall not be begun until a scheme has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to accommodate: 
(a) Parking of vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors 
(b) Loading and unloading of plant and vehicles 
(c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
(d) Wheel cleaning facilities 
(e) Temporary portacabins and welfare for site operatives 
and each facility shall be retained throughout the course of construction of the development, free 
from any impediment to its designated use.  No other areas on the site, other than those in the 
approved scheme shall be used for the purposes listed (a) to (e) above. 
REASON: In the interests of amenity and road safety. 
 
16. The parking and turning areas shall incorporate surface water drainage that is SuDS compliant 
and in accordance with DEFRA "Sustainable Drainage Systems - Non-statutory technical 
standards for sustainable drainage systems" (March 2015).  It shall be operated and maintained 
as such thereafter.   
REASON: To prevent increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality and ensure 
future maintenance of the surface water drainage scheme. 
[Relevant Policies: CSDPD CS1, BFBLP EN25] 
 
17. All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
contained in the document “Preliminary Bat and Walkover Survey” by 4 Acre Ecology Limited 
received 28 January 2019 by the Local Planning Authority. An ecological site inspection report 
shall be submitted for approval within three months of the first occupation of any dwelling hereby 
approved. 
REASON: In the interests of nature conservation 
[Relevant Plans and Policies: CSDPD CS1, CS7] 
 
18. No demolition shall be begun until a scheme for the provision of biodiversity enhancements 
(not mitigation), including a plan or drawing showing the location of these enhancements, has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme 
shall be performed, observed and complied with and retained as such thereafter. 
REASON: In the interests of nature conservation  
[Relevant Plans and Policies: CSDPD CS1, CS7] 
 
19. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
order, the dwellings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of external lighting 
installed on the site or affixed to any buildings on the site, including details set out in a lighting 
design strategy for biodiversity have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The strategy shall: 
a) identify those area/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely 
to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting places or along important routes 
used to access key areas of their territory, for example, for foraging; and 
b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate 
lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that 
areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory or having access to their breeding 
sites and resting places. 
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in 
the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy.  
REASON: In the interests of nature conservation  
[Relevant Plans and Policies: CSDPD CS1, CS7] 
 
 
 

30



Informatives 
 
1.The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application 
by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and negotiating, 
with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns.  As a 
result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable 
proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out 
within the National Planning Policy Framework.   
 
 
2.The applicant is advised that the following conditions require discharging prior to 
commencement of development: 
03. Materials  
04. Slab level  
08. Sustainability Statement 
09. Energy Demand Assessment  
15. Site organisation  
18. Biodiversity enhancement  
 
The following conditions require discharge prior to the occupation of the dwellings hereby 
approved: 
06. Landscaping 
07. Boundary treatment  
13. Cycle provision  
19. Lighting  
 
No details are required to be submitted in relation to the following conditions; however they are 
required to be complied with: 
01. Time limit 
02. Approved plans 
05. Restrictions on windows  
10. Vehicular access  
11. Pedestrian visibility  
12. Parking  
14. No gates  
16. SUDS 
17. Ecological measures  
 
 
3.The Street Care team should be contacted at Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell, RG12 1JD, 
telephone 01344 352000 to agree the access construction details and to grant a licence before any 
work is carried out within the highway. A formal application should be made allowing at least 4 weeks 
notice to obtain details of underground services on the applicant's behalf. 

 
 
In the event of the S106 agreement not being completed by 30 September 2019, the Head of 
Planning be authorised to either extend the period further or refuse the application on the 
grounds of:  
 
01. The occupants of the development would put extra pressure on the Thames Basin Heaths 
Special Protection Area and the proposal would not satisfactorily mitigate its impacts in this 
respect. In the absence of a planning obligation to secure suitable avoidance and mitigation 
measures and access management monitoring arrangements, in terms that are satisfactory to the 
Local Planning Authority, the proposal would be contrary to Policy NRM6 of the South East Plan, 
Policy EN3 of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan, Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy 

31



Development Plan Document and the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Document (2018).  
 
 
 
 
 
Doc. Ref: Uniform 7/DC/Agenda 
 
The application file to which this report relates can be viewed at the Council's Time Square office during office hours 
or online at www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
 

32



ITEM NO: 6 
Application No. 

19/00332/FUL 
Ward: 

Ascot 
Date Registered: 

30 April 2019 
Target Decision Date: 

25 June 2019 
Site Address: 56 King Edwards Road Ascot Berkshire SL5 8NY   
Proposal: Erection of a two storey front and side extension, first floor side 

extension and single storey side and rear extension following 
demolition of existing conservatory, creation of balcony, 
replacement roof including raising of ridge height, and replacement 
front porch. (Resubmission of 18/00761/FUL for alterations to 
fenestration and first floor extension) 

Applicant: Mrs Sharon Day 
Agent: (There is no agent for this application) 
Case Officer: Antara Kumar, 01344 352000 

development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
Site Location Plan  (for identification purposes only, not to scale) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Bracknell Forest Borough Council 100019488 2004 

 

33

Agenda Item 6

mailto:development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

OFFICER REPORT 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 

1.1 The proposal is for the erection of a two storey front and side extension, first floor side 
extension and single storey side and rear extension following demolition of existing 
conservatory, creation of balcony, replacement roof including raising of ridge height, and 
replacement front porch. The application is a resubmission of 18/00761/FUL for alterations to 
fenestration and an additional first floor extension. 

 
1.2 The dimensions (in metres) of the extension and proposed addition are as follows: 

 

Extension / addition Depth Width Height Eaves 
Height 

Ground floor front and rear (flat roof) 10.6 8 8.5 5.6 

First floor front side and rear (part pitched roof with 
gable ends, part dual pitched) 

8.4 8 8.3 (part) 
6.8 (part) 

5.3 

Single storey rear and side 5.5 7.2 3.3 N/A 

Front porch (dual pitched roof) 1.5 2.7 3.8 2.8 

First Floor side extension (added with 
amendment 19/00332/FUL) 

2.8 1.9 7 5.3 

 
While all the proposed extensions have been applied for, the extant permission for application 
18/00761/FUL is a material consideration and provides a fallback position for the applicant.  

 
1.3 Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions in Section 
11 of this report 

 
 

2. REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE 
 

2.1 Following the receipt of 6 objections, the application is to be considered by the Planning 
Committee 

 
3. PLANNING STATUS AND SITE DESCRIPTION  

 

PLANNING STATUS 

Within settlement boundary 

 
3.1 No. 56 King Edwards Road is an extended two storey, detached dwelling located on the north 

west side of King Edwards Road. The dwellinghouse is located within the defined settlement 
boundary.  
 

4. RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 

4.1 The relevant planning history for the site is as follows: 
 
11503 
Extension to provide new kitchen and external W.C. and other internal alterations 
Approved 1966 
 
600994 
Two storey extension forming enlarged dining room and lounge and third bedroom with two 
bedrooms and bathroom over. 
Approved 1975 

34



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

 
601118 
Single storey rear extension to lounge and third bedroom with balcony over, dormer extensions 
forming two bedrooms and bathroom in roof space. 
Approved 1975 
 
03/00615/FUL 
Erection of single storey rear extension forming conservatory. 
 
18/00761/FUL 
Erection of a two-storey front and side extension, first floor side extension and single storey side 
and rear extension following demolition of existing conservatory, creation of balcony, replacement 
roof including raising of ridge height, and replacement front porch. 
Approved 2018 
 
19/00122/FUL 
Section 73 application to vary conditions 02 (Approved Plans) and 03 (Materials) of planning 
permission 18/00761/FUL (Note for Clarification; this application is to render the ground floor walls, 
have first floor tile hanging, slate roof and grey windows). 
Approved 2019 
 
 
 
5. THE PROPOSAL 

 
5.1 Planning permission has been granted under 18/00761/FUL for the erection of a two storey 

front and side extension, first floor side extension and single storey side and rear extension 
following demolition of existing conservatory, creation of balcony, replacement roof including 
raising of ridge height, and replacement front porch. The current application is for the following 
additional amendments: 
i) side extension at first floor level creating an 18/00761/FUL additional floor space of 5.32 

square metres 
ii) moving the second storey window on the Northeast elevation towards the front of the 

house. 
iii) The addition of 2 small windows on the Southeast elevation second storey  

 
It is to be noted while all the proposed extensions have been applied for under 19/00332/FUL, 
the decision for application 18/00761/FUL is a material consideration and would be a fallback 
position for the applicant.  

 
6. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

 
Winkfield Parish Council: 

6.1 Winkfield Parish Council raised no objections to this application.  
 
Other Representations: 

6.2 Six objections received from the neighbouring properties of 54 King Edwards Road, 45 King 
Edwards Road, 50 King Edwards Road, 58 King Edwards Road, 6 Beechwood Close, 119 
Fernbank Road. The following points were raised: 
1)  Side elevation is overbearing causes overshadowing and reduces the perceivable gap 
between 54 and 56 King Edwards Road 
2)  Void space created  

 3)  Balcony will cause overlooking for rear garden of 58 King Edwards Road 
 4) Proposed side windows should have obscure/ opaque glass 
5) Submitted plans are hand-drawn and not legible.  

35



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

6) Fails to meet criteria set out in The Design SPD (2017) as it is not set away from the 
property boundary, no perceivable gap between buildings. 

7) This will cause loss of daylight and overshadowing for the forecourt of 54 King Edwards 
Road. 

8) Works on developing alterations contained within the application has commenced, prior to 
granting of planning permission. 

9) Proposed development is overbearing and overdevelopment. 
 

[Officer Note: Point 4) this has been noted and will be conditioned. Point 1, 3, 7 is assessed in 
Section 9.iii and 6 is assessed under Section 9.ii. The applicant has submitted revised scaled 
drawings in response to Point 5].   
 

6.3 In response to the remaining points:  
2)  Planning is not concerned with the internal usage of rooms 
3) Balcony has already been granted planning permission under 18/00761/FUL and previous 
planning permission XXX which has been partly implemented. 

 8) There is an existing planning permission 18/00761/FUL granted in 2018. However, planning 
permission can also be granted retrospectively 

 
7. SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 
7.1 No other statutory or non-statutory consultations have been required.  

 
8. MAIN POLICIES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 

 
8.1 The primary strategic planning considerations applying to the site and associated policies are: 

 

 Development Plan NPPF 

General policies CS1 and CS2 of the CSDPD Consistent 

Design CS7 of the CSDPD,  Consistent 

Amenity  ‘Saved’ policy EN20 of the BFBLP Consistent 

Highways  ‘Saved’ policy M9 of the BFBLP 
CS23 of the CSDPD 

Consistent - Para. 39 refers to 
LPAs setting their own parking 
standards for residential 
development 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

Bracknell Forest Borough Parking Standards, Supplementary Planning Document 2016 
Design SPD 2017 

Other publications 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
Bracknell Forest Borough Council ‘Extending your home: A Householder’s Guide’ (2003) 
Building Research Establishment (BRE) Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: a 
Guide to Good Practice 2011 (SLPDS) 

 
 

9. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
i. Principle of Development 
ii. Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area 
iii. Impact on Residential Amenity 
iv. Transport and Highways Considerations 
v. Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
i. Principle of Development 

 

36



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

9.2 56 King Edwards Road is located within a defined settlement as designated by the Bracknell 
Forest Borough Policies Map. Due to its location and nature, the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in principle and in accordance with CSDPD CS1 (Sustainable Development), CS2 
(Locational Principles) and the NPPF subject to no adverse impacts upon character and 
appearance of surrounding area, residential amenities of neighbouring properties, highway 
safety, etc. These matters are assessed below.  

 
ii.    Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area 

 
9.3 The application site follows the same building lines as the dwelling to the south, 58 King 

Edwards Road. 56 King Edwards is located on the outside curve of a bend in the road, hence it 
is visible from a long way further up King Edwards Road. 

 
9.4 56 King Edwards Road was previously a chalet style dwellinghouse with dormers at first floor 

level. The previous planning application 18/00761/FUL approved in 2018, proposed converting 
this into a two-storey dwelling house. It is noted some of the neighbouring properties (54 King 
Edwards Road and opposite property of 52 King Edwards) are two storeyed and have had front 
extensions. 

 
9.5 The proposed roof design of the dwellinghouse reflects the design of the neighbouring 

properties of Nos. 54 and  52, King Edwards Road and hence this would be in keeping with the 
character of the area. It is to be noted that the majority of the proposed development has 
already received planning permission under 18/00761/FUL. 

 
9.6 The previous (existing) dwellinghouse had a variable roof ridge line, the approved design is an 

improvement over the existing design of the dwellinghouse. The proposed side extension at 
first floor level would reflect the roof ridge of the previous dwellinghouse and would not be 
significantly out of character. 

 
9.7 The proposed materials are hanging tiles for the first floor front extension and render for the 

rest of the dwellinghouse. There has been a previous Section 73 application 19/00122/FUL for 
a change of materials which has been approved as this was in keeping with the character of 
the area and the streetscene. 

 
9.8 The proposal would therefore be in line with CSDPD Policy CS7, ‘Saved’ BFBLP Policy EN20 

and the NPPF.  
 
Front elevation of the original dwelling as existing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Front elevation of dwelling as approved under application 18/00761/FUL 

37



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 Dwelling as proposed under the current application 
 
  

 
 
 

iii.   Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

9.9 56 King Edwards Road is a detached dwelling, the land rises steeply by XXm to the north west 
and therefore the proposed development would not be considered to have a significant impact 
on the amenities of the occupiers of the dwellings to the rear of the application site. 
 

9.10 There is an existing shed and garage to the south of the application site, adjacent to the 
boundary with no. 58 and a separation distance of about 5 metres from the dwellinghouse at 
no. 58 King Edwards Road. As such the proposed development would not be considered to 
have a significant impact on the amenities of the occupiers of this neighbouring dwelling in 
terms of overbearing and overshadowing 
 

38



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

9.11 The proposed development at ground floor level would be sited 7 metres from High Views, no. 
54 King Edwards Road and there would be a separation distance of 7 metres at first floor 
level. There is a proposed side facing window at first floor level. This would serve a bathroom/ 
storage space, as such it is considered acceptable to restrict the glazing and opening by 
condition.  

 
9.12 The current amended application (19/00332/FUL) proposes three windows at first floor level 

on the southern side elevation. It is recommended these be obscure glazed and have limited 
opening to mitigate overlooking impacts. It is to be noted that side facing windows could be 
built under permitted development if they are obscure-glazed and any openable part being 
more than 1.7 metres above the floor level of the room they are located in. 

 
9.13 There is a distance of about 11.5 metres from the proposed first floor extension and the 

nearest point of the rear boundary adjacent to no. 6, Kaynes Park. Due to the separation 
distances, it is not considered that the proposed development would be overbearing for the 
neighbouring residents.  

 
9.14 A section of the flat roof over the single storey rear projection is proposed to be used as a 

balcony. There is a part-implemented planning permission (601118), approved in 1975 
permitted the use of this roof as a balcony, as such it would be unreasonable to refuse this 
element of the proposal. In any event, there is dense vegetation on the boundary between the 
application site and no. 58, King Edwards Road. 

 
9.15 Due to the location of the application site on the outside curve of a bend in the road, the front 

elevation of the neighbouring property to the north of the application site (High Views no. 54 
King Edwards Road) is set further back from the highway than the application dwelling. The 
proposed extensions and alteration would be to the front or side of this neighbouring dwelling, 
therefore they would not have a detrimental impact on the private amenity area of High Views, 
as this would be screened. A loss of light assessment has been conducted and concluded that 
there would be no unacceptable loss of light. 

 
 

9.16 It is to be noted that majority of the proposed development has been approved under planning 
permission 18/00761/FUL and raising any current concerns about any previously approved 
extension would be unreasonable. 

 
Rear elevation of original dwelling 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rear elevation of the dwelling as approved under 18/00761/FUL 
 

39



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rear elevation of the dwelling as proposed under 19/00332/FUL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.17 It is therefore considered that the development would not result in any significant adverse 

impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, in accordance with BFBLP 'Saved' Policies 
EN20 and EN25, and the NPPF.  

  
iv      Transport and Highways Considerations   

 
9.18 There is no proposed increase in the number of bedrooms at the application site. The 

residential standards in the SPD state that a dwelling with four or more bedrooms require 3 
parking spaces. The proposed additional increase in floorspace at first floor level would not 
increase the number of bedrooms, hence no additional parking spaces are required. 
 

9.19 The proposal would therefore be in line with CSDPD Policy CS23 and ‘Saved’ BFBLP Policy 
M9 and the NPPF.  

 
v      Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
9.20 Following the introduction on the 6th April 2015 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), all 

applications for planning permission will be assessed as to whether they are liable. As this 
development is a householder application, it will not be liable for a charge.  

 
10. CONCLUSIONS 

 

40



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

10.1 It is considered that the development is acceptable in principle and would not result in an 
adverse impact on the character and appearance of the host dwelling or surrounding area. The 
development would not result in a detrimental impact on the residential amenity of the 
neighbouring properties, or on highway safety. It is therefore considered that the proposed 
development complies with ‘Saved’ policies M9 and EN20 of the BFBLP, Policies CS2, CS7 
and CS23 of the CSDPD and the NPPF.  

 
11. RECOMMENDATION 

 
11.1 The application is recommended to be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:-  

 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 

following approved plans and other submitted details: 
Site Location Plan and Block Plan with Parking Layout, Drawing reference: 
18.56KER.P.SITE.P.01, Received 06.02.2019 
Proposed Elevations, Drawing reference: 18.56KER.P05, Received 29.05.2019 
Proposed Floor Plans, Received 17.05.2019 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
2. The existing hardstanding to the front of the application site, known as no. 56 King 

Edwards Road, Ascot, SL5 8NY, as shown in the approved drawings, shall thereafter 
be kept available for parking at all times.  
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate car parking to 
prevent the likelihood of on-street car parking which would be a danger to other road 
users. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP M9, Core Strategy DPD CS23] 
 

3. The first floor side facing windows in the northern and southern side elevations of the 
development hereby permitted shall not be glazed at any time other than with a 
minimum of Pilkington Level 3 obscure glass (or equivalent).  They shall at all times be 
non-opening below 1.7 metres above in the internal floor level of the room it serves. 
REASON: To prevent the overlooking of neighbouring properties. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20] 
 

4. The flat roof area of the single storey rear and side extension hereby permitted shall not 
be used as a balcony, roof garden or similar amenity area. 
REASON: In the interests of the privacy of nearby dwellings. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20, CSCS7] 
 

5. Tree Protection measures shall be carried out in accordance with the Tree Protection 
Plan (ref ARBTECH TPP 01) Arbtech Arboricultural Method Statement dated 19 
November 2018 so that tree protection is provided from the commencement of 
demolition or site clearance works (whichever is the sooner), through to the 
construction works and the completion of hard landscaping works 
REASON: - In order to safeguard trees and other vegetation considered to be worthy of 
retention in the interests of the visual amenity of the area. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN1 and EN20, CSDPD CS7] 
 
 

11.2 Informative(s): 
 

1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and 

41



Planning Committee  13th October 2016 
 

subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2.   No details are required to be submitted in relation to the following conditions; however 

they are required to be complied with: 
 1. Approved plans 
 2. Parking layout to be retained 
 3. Windows to be obscure glazed and non-opening 
 4. New flat roof not to be used as a balcony 
      5. Tree Protection Measures   

3. The applicant should note that this permission does not convey any authorisation to enter 
onto land or to carry out works on land not within the applicant’s ownership. 

 
4. This is a planning permission. Before beginning any development you may also need 

separate permission(s) under Building Regulations or other legislation. It is your 
responsibility to check that there are no covenants or other restrictions that apply to 
your property. 

 
Doc. Ref:  
 
The application file to which this report relates can be viewed at the Council's Time Square office during office hours 
or online at www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 

42

http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/


ITEM NO: 8 
Application No. 

19/00036/FUL 
Ward: 

Winkfield And 
Cranbourne 

Date Registered: 

11 January 2019 
Target Decision Date: 

8 March 2019 

Site Address: North Street Garage North Street Winkfield Windsor 
Berkshire SL4 4TF 

Proposal: Erection of 2no. dwellings with associated access, parking, turning 
area and landscaping following demolition of existing garage and 
hard standing. 

Applicant: RW Rowsell Ltd 
Agent: Katie Lamb 
Case Officer: Paul Corbett, 01344 352000 

development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
Site Location Plan  (for identification purposes only, not to scale) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Bracknell Forest Borough Council 100019488 2004 

 

43

Agenda Item 7

mailto:development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The proposal to erect 2no. dwellings with associated access, parking, turning area and 
landscaping following demolition of existing garage and hard standing will result in a 
significantly larger built form than the garage building it replaces having a greater impact upon 
the openness of the Green Belt than the existing built form.    
 
1.2 The proposal will also result in the loss of a protected tree without any scope to mitigate it’s 
loss due the amount of development proposed. 
 
1.3 The proposed development would result in a 269% volumetric increase over the existing 
built form on the site as well reduce the openness of the site itself therefore conflicting with the 
objective preserving the openness of the green belt contrary to paragraph 145 (g) of the NPPF 
and is therefore unacceptable in principle. 
 

 
 
2. REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE 
 
2.1 The application has been reported to the Planning Committee at the request of a Councillor 
Moira Gaw due to the residents support for the site to be redeveloped for residential purposes. 
 
 
3. PLANNING STATUS AND SITE DESCRIPTION  

 

PLANNING STATUS 

Land Outside Settlement – Green belt 

TPO 

Character Area Assessments SPD - Area G – Cranbourne 

 
3.1 The site is located on the northern side of North Street, Winkfield, and comprises a single 
storey building positioned broadly in the centre of the site. The site has operated for many years 
as a garage for car sales and repairs.  
 
3.2 An existing tree (a Weeping Willow) is positioned to the north-eastern rear corner of the site 
and is covered by confirmed Tree Preservation Order 245. The trees around the eastern and 
northern boundaries that are within the former HFC bank site, are protected by confirmed Tree 
Preservation Order 1103.  
 
3.3 The site area is approximately 0.118 hectares 
 
3.4 The site is currently bounded by a 1.8 m high, metal fence at the front with a 1.8 high close 
boarded fence on the other three sides.  
 
4. RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
4.1 The following are relevant to the application site: 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION  

Refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in Section 11 of this report. 

44



Retrospective application for continued use of former petrol filling station for car sales and 
repair for a temporary period. (Expired 12.10.2003)  
Ref. No: 00/00474/T | Status: Approval  
 
Erection of 1no. five bedroomed dwelling following demolition of existing buildings. NO PD.  
Ref. No: 00/00658/FUL | Status: Approval  
 
Section 73 application to allow continued use of former petrol filling station for car sales for a 
temporary period subject to a variation of condition 8 of 00/00474/T to increase the number of 
cars displayed for sale from 20 to 25, a variation of condition 09 to allow an alternative parking 
layout, and operational development comprising the erection of 8 number security lights on 2.4 
metre high posts.  
Ref. No: 01/00981/FUL | Status: Refusal  
 
Change of use from petrol station to motor car sales  
Ref. No: 03/01025/FUL | Status: Approval  
 
Erection of 3no. detached dwellings following demolition of existing garage  
Ref. No: 625374 | Status: Refusal  
 
Application for reconstruction of petrol station.  
Ref. No: 11675 | Status: Approval  
 
Application for bungalow.  
Ref. No: 2700 | Status: Approval  
 
Application for petrol filling station etc.  
Ref. No: 1523 | Status: Approval  
 
Outline application for residential development of 17 acres.  
Ref. No: 19033 | Status: Refusal  
 
Erection 1no. five bedroomed dwelling following demolition of existing buildings used as car 
showroom and workshop.  
Ref. No: 06/00869/FUL | Status: Approval  
 
Erection of a three storey building accommodating 4no. two bedroom and 6no. one bedroom 
flats with associated car parking following the demolition of garage buildings.  
Ref. No: 07/00443/FUL | Status: Refusal  
 
Erection of a three storey building accommodating 6no. two bedroom and 2no. one bedroom 
flats with associated car parking following the demolition of garage buildings.  
Ref. No: 07/01147/FUL | Status: Refusal – Appeal Dismissed 
 
Change of use from petrol filling station to used car sales and car hire business.  
Ref. No: 616723 | Status: Refusal  
 
Change of use from petrol filling station to use of premises for car sales and workshop for a 
temporary period. (EXPIRED)  
Ref. No: 617294 | Status: Approval  
 
Continued use of former filling station for used car sales and repair workshop for further period 
of three years. (Expired 30.4.1997)  
Ref. No: 619650 | Status: Approval  
 

45

https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0000474T&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0000474T&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0000658FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0100981FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0100981FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0100981FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0100981FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0100981FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=0301025FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=9925374FUL&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=IM4ZB4BVDT659&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=IM4ZB6BVDT532&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=IM4ZBDBVDT829&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=IM4ZC9BVDT076&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=J697U6BVF7000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=J697U6BVF7000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JHTZM9BV08E00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JHTZM9BV08E00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JR728MBV02000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JR728MBV02000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JRJP7JBV05V00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JV5DKFBV03P00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JV5DKFBV03P00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JWYCJTBV09L00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=JWYCJTBV09L00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000


Erection of detached building forming 5 no. one bedroom flats.  
Ref. No: 09/00276/FUL | Status: Refusal  
 
Erection of detached building forming 5 no. one bedroom flats.  
Ref. No: 09/00551/FUL | Status: Withdrawn  
 
Erection of detached building forming 5 no. one bedroom flats with associated parking, bin 
storage and landscaping following demolition of existing garage building.  
Ref. No: 10/00068/FUL | Status: Refusal  
 
Erection of three storey building comprising 4no. two bedroom apartments and 2no. one 
bedroom apartments, with associated parking, landscaping and bin/cycle storage, following 
demolition of existing commercial building.  
Ref. No: 13/00668/FUL | Status: Withdrawn  
 
Erection of 2no four-bedroom detached dwellings with associated access, parking and turning 
space, garage and landscaping following demolition of existing commercial building.  
Ref. No: 14/00346/FUL | Status: Withdrawn  

 
 
5. THE PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 The applicant proposes the demolition of the existing garage building and removal of 
associated hardstanding, and the erection of 2no. detached dwellings with associated access, 
parking, turning area and landscaping. 
 
6. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
  
Winkfield Parish Council: 
6.1 No objection to this application but request a condition be applied limiting impact of 
construction on the local area, particularly of the effects of vehicular storage and movement on 
the highways. 
 
Other representations: 
6.2  9 letters of support have been received and no letters of objection. However the following 
concern is noted by the neighbouring property to the site: 
 
With regards to the current site owners the protected willow tree has not been 'pollarded' for 8 + 
years and has become a concern for the neighbour as one of its branches leans over her 
boundary. 
 
7. SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
  
Tree Officer 
7.1 Recommends refusal. 
 
Landscape Officer 
7.2 Recommends refusal. 
 
Biodiversity 
7.3 Recommends conditional approval. 
 
Highways Officer 
7.4 Recommends conditional approval. 

 

46

https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=KIV0KKBV05900&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=KP19GOBV08B00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=KXW6JEBV08B00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=KXW6JEBV08B00&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=MR7D28BV8M000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=MR7D28BV8M000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=MR7D28BV8M000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=N3NIG4BV8M000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000
https://planapp.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?previousCaseType=Property&keyVal=N3NIG4BV8M000&previousCaseNumber=0018L2BVBU000&previousCaseUprn=200000332393&activeTab=summary&previousKeyVal=00284RBVLI000


8. MAIN POLICIES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
8.1 The primary planning policies and associated guidance applying to this site are:- 

  
 
9. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The key issues for consideration are:- 
 
i. Principle of development  
ii. Impact on character and appearance of the area 
iii. Impact on residential amenity 
iv  Transport implications  
v Tree and Landscape implications 
vi. Impact on Biodiversity 
vii  Thames Basin Heath SPA  
viii  Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
ix  Sustainability 
x  Drainage/SuDS 
 
i. Principle of development 
 
9.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications 
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise, which is supported by the NPPF.  This is also 
reflected in Policy CP1 of the Borough's Site Allocations Local Plan (SALP), which sets out that 
a positive approach to considering development proposals which reflects the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF should be taken, and that planning 
applications that accord with the development plan for Bracknell Forest should be approved 
without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This is in conformity with the 
NPPF. 
 
9.3 The application site is located outside the defined settlement and within the Green Belt as 
designated by the Bracknell Forest Borough Policies Map. Therefore the Development Plan 
Policies considered applicable to this site are the Core Strategy DPD (CS) Policy CS9 which 
relates to land outside settlements, BFBLP Saved Policy GB1 refers to avoiding new buildings 

 Development Plan NPPF 

General policies CP1 of SALP, CS1 & CS2 of CSDPD Consistent 

Green Belt CS9 of CSDPD, Saved policy GB1 of 
BFBLP 

Not fully consistent 

Character & 
Design 

CS7 of CSDPD, Saved policy EN20 of 
BFBLP 

Consistent 

Trees & 
Landscaping 

CS7 of CSDPD, Saved policy EN1 of 
BFBLP 

Consistent 

   

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

Parking standards SPD 

Design SPD 

Character Area Assessments SPD 

Other publications 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 

Bracknell Forest Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule (2015)  

47



in the Green Belt generally and both are considered consistent with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
9.4 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green 
Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential 
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 
 
9.5 NPPF para 143 sets out that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the 
Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 
9.6 NPPF para 144 sets out that when considering any planning application, local planning 
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very 
special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations. 
 
9.7 NPPF para 145 states that a local planning authority should regard the construction of new 
buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt however there are a number of exceptions and sub 
paragraph (g) is considered applicable to this proposal. This allows for limited infilling or the 
partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land, whether redundant or in 
continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development. 
 
9.8 NPPF para 145 (g) is considered applicable to this site as it constitutes previously 
developed land (a brownfield site) as the building and land has operated as garage for car 
repairs and sales for many years. Annex 2 of the NPPF provides some explanatory text with 
regard to the definition of previously developed land as being land which is or was occupied by 
a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be 
assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface 
infrastructure. 
 
9.9 The explanatory text in annex 2 also indicates that ‘the whole of the curtilage should not be 
assumed to be developed’. This is of particular importance when comparing the existing built 
form against the proposed built form and a making a judgement as to whether the proposed 
development has a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development.  
 
9.10 The openness of the Green Belt has a spatial aspect as well as a visual aspect, and for 
example the absence of visual intrusion does not mean that there is no impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt as a result of a proposed new or materially larger building. 
 
9.11 In this case the impact of the proposed built form on the openness of the Green Belt can 
be assessed by comparing the difference in the volume of built form between the existing and 
proposed situations.  The application proposes a 269% increase in the volume of built form 
(existing building volume 698m3 vs proposed building volume 1,884m3).   
 
9.12  The visual component is also considered to be compromised as the mass, bulk and height 
of the two new buildings as opposed to the existing single storey building also reduces the 
openness of the site.  Views of the site’s woodland backdrop would be reduced and this is 
exacerbated by the loss of a protected tree to the north eastern corner of the site.  The wooded 
backdrop and the protected tree are attractive features that contribute to the streetscene and 
overall character of the area.   
 
9.13 It is acknowledged that the current use as a garage for car repair and sales is not 
necessarily compatible with the surrounding residential use and the local community would like 

48



to see the site redeveloped for housing.  However, the Council does not have any historic 
record of noise nuisance complaints with the existing use and this alone would not give rise to a 
material consideration that would outweigh the harm already identified. 
 
9.14 Because Green Belt policy has changed in the intervening period, it is also considered that 
very little weight can be afforded to a previous planning permission 06/00869/FUL which was 
not implemented.  It is therefore concluded that the openness of the Green Belt would be 
harmed by the proposal and it therefore conflicts with paragraph 145 (g) of the NPPF and is 
unacceptable in principle. 
 
9.15 An additional material consideration of particular relevance to this decision is the appeal 
decision on the site formerly known as ‘Scissor Happy Salon’ (15/00880/FUL) which is located 
approximately 126m north of this site.  An appeal was dismissed in 2016. In this case the 
Officer had calculated that the proposed building footprint to result in a 140% increase over that 
of the existing building footprint. As a direct comparison the current proposal for two new 
dwellings would result in a 160% increase in footprint over that of the existing building footprint 
of the garage (increasing from 102 sqm to 266 sqm).  This decision reinforces the conclusion 
that the proposal is clearly not appropriate development and to grant permission would be 
inconsistent and it would potentially create an undesirable precedent if it were to be approved 
contrary to national and local Green Belt Policy. 
 
9.16 Notwithstanding the appeal decision the applicant did request that the Council review what 
had now been approved on the site formerly known as ‘Scissor Happy Salon’ post the appeal 
decision. The Council has reviewed the approved application (16/01178/FUL) and notes that 
the two houses had a similar building footprint to that of the existing building and most notable 
resulted in less height than that of the existing building. The existing building height was 9.36m 
whereas the houses approved have a height of 7.64m.  
 
ii. Impact on character and appearance of area 
 
9.17 Saved Bracknell Forest Local Plan Policy GB1(iv) is of particular relevance to this proposal 
as it sets out that planning permission will not be given except in very special circumstances for 
any new building in the Green Belt unless it is for a replacement dwelling.  However, this is not 
considered to be consistent with the NPPF which now allows for limited infilling or the partial or 
complete redevelopment of previously developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use 
(excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt than the existing development.  Saved Bracknell Forest Local Plan Policy EN20 and 
Core Strategy Policy CS7 also emphasise the importance of safeguarding the appearance and 
character of the area.  These latter Development Plan Policies are considered to be consistent 
with the NPPF. 
 
9.18 The site is also affected by the Character Area Assessments SPD (Area G – Cranbourne) 
as the whole of the street frontage faces directly onto the study area.  It acknowledges the 
linear pattern of development and existing mix of uses but also advises any redevelopment 
should respect the local settlement form and layout and preserve the vegetation pattern.  
 
9.19 The site comprises a single storey garage building broadly positioned to the centre of the 
site which has historically operated as garage for car repairs and sales for many years and is 
very prominent within the street scene as it is enclosed with railings to the street frontage and is 
normally dominated by parked cars to the front for sale.  However, the site as a whole has an 
openness and is set against a green backdrop of woodland trees to the north and west 
boundary and a large mature weeping willow tree set within the site which is visible from the 
street adjacent to eastern boundary. 
   

49



9.20 The existing single storey garage building is constructed of brick with pitched tiled roof and 
is not dissimilar in appearance to a bungalow.  It has a width of 11.72m, a depth of 9.75 and 
height of 5.66m.  The current proposal is to replace this building with 2no. two storey-dwellings 
each with a width of 10.10m, a depth of 14.78m and a height of 8.3m. A direct visual 
comparison is shown in the preceding figures.  
 
Figure 1: Existing Street Scene 

 

Figure 2: Proposed Street Scene 

 
 
Figure 3: Case Officers illustration comparing the proposed dwellings with the existing building 
 

 
 
9.21 The applicant also makes a comparison between an approval back in 2006 for a single two 
storey 5 bed dwelling and garage approved under planning permission 06/00869/FUL but never 
implemented.  However, this pre-dates the NPPF and was assessed under a less restrictive 
Green Belt policy as at the time the site fell within a Green Belt Village which is no longer 
relevant today and therefore it is considered that this cannot be afforded any weight. 
 

50



9.22 It is considered that, by reason of its scale, mass and bulk and height, the development 
now proposed would clearly have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the 
existing development.  
 
9.23 The current proposal would adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the 
area. The proposals are therefore considered to conflict with Policies GB1 and EN20 of the 
Bracknell Forest Local Plan and Policy CS7 of the Core Strategy Development Plan and the 
NPPF. 
 

 
iii. Residential amenity 
 
9.24 BFBLP 'Saved' Policy EN20 refers to the need to not adversely affect the amenity of the 
surrounding properties and adjoining areas. BFBLP 'Saved' Policy EN20 and CSDPD Policy 
CS7, require the development to be sympathetic to the visual amenity of neighbouring 
properties through its design implications. These requirements are considered to be consistent 
with the general design principles in the NPPF. 
 
9.25 The siting of the proposed dwellings is such that it would not be considered to result in any 
adverse impact upon the residential amenities of the nearest residential property located to the 
north east of the site (Medici Lodge). There are no immediate neighbouring properties to the 
north west or north boundaries that would be considered to be affected by this proposal. 
 
9.26 The scheme has been designed such that plot 2 nearest the boundary with the 
neighbouring bungalow Medici Lodge has one side facing window at first floor which is obscure 
glazed and serves a bathroom. The separation distance between the side elevation of plot 2 
and Medici Lodge is 3.36m to the front and this increases to 4.53m to the rear. 
 
9.27 There would be a height difference of approximately 1.88m between the ridge of plot 2 and 
the neighbouring property Medici Lodge, which has at least two habitable rooms at ground floor 
level facing plot 2. The combination of the separation distance and the fact the roof of plot 2 will 
also be hipped away from the neighbouring boundary does not reduce the amount of natural 
daylight to the neighbour’s ground floor side facing windows to any significant extent that would 
warrant a reason for refusal.   
 
9.28 It is therefore considered that this proposal would not adversely impact upon the 
residential amenity of the residences bordering this site. As such the proposal is considered to 
comply with Bracknell Forest Local Plan Policy EN20 and the NPPF. 
 
iv. Transport implications 
 
Access 
9.29 The site takes its access off North Street, a local distributor road which is subject to a 
30mph speed limit which has no parking restrictions. 
 
9.30 A new central shared access is proposed, and the proposals include the removal of two 
existing vehicular accesses. The removal of accesses onto a main road, additional kerb-space 
for on-street parking; as well as the reduction in traffic arising from the removal of car sales 
from the site would be a highway safety improvement. It is recommended that the access works 

as shown on the drawing (FD 18- 1620- 55B) are secured by planning condition to be 

undertaken prior to occupation of the dwellings. 
 
9.31 Dropped kerb works within the highway, including relocating a lighting column will require 
separate consent of the Highway Authority, and the applicant should be advised of this by way 

51



of informative. Also, boundary treatments should be kept low for a short distance to either side 
of the proposed access to achieve pedestrian visibility splays (of 2m by 2m), and this should be 
secured via planning condition. 
 

9.32 The proposed access measures off the revised worksite layout plan (FD 18- 1620- 55B) 

as 3.80m wide which would enable a car to pass a pedestrian, though two vehicles would be 
unable to pass. The applicant has not amended the access to the suggested 4.8m which would 
enable two vehicles to pass. The latest revision no longer shows any gates which is welcomed. 
 
9.33 The site plan indicates that pedestrian access would be provided to the front doors of each 
dwelling, and that side/rear access would be provided for rear bin storage, and cycle parking. 
 
Parking 
9.34 The applicant’s updated drawing (FD 18 – 1620 – 55B) shows the provision of three 
parking spaces for each dwelling, which complies with the parking standards for the 4-bed 
dwellings shown on the floor plans.  
 
9.35 The applicant’s design and access statement indicates that cycle sheds would be provided 
in rear garden sheds, and details of cycle parking should be secured via planning condition. 
 
Trips 
9.36 Two dwellings are likely to generate 12 two-way trips per day, including one or two 
movements in both peak periods, and this would be much less than the existing use of the site 
for car sales. 
 
9.37 The Highway Authority has no objection and recommends that this planning application be 
approved, subject to a number of planning conditions. 
 
 
v. Tree and landscaping implications 
 
9.38 The mature trees surrounding this site are of particular visual importance as they provide 
an attractive feature within the wider landscape and Green Belt setting and the adjacent 
recognised character area. 
 
9.39 This proposal will result in the loss of a protected tree (TPO 245) T1 (a Weeping Willow) 
with no mitigation to offset its loss which would be detrimental to the visual amenity and 
landscape character of the area. 

 
9.40 The offsite northern and western boundary trees consist of a mix of native species 
including; young Ash, Field Maple, Hawthorn, Cherry, Pine and Oak. These essentially form a 
developing woodland backdrop to the site. The Tree Officer confirms that most of these 
specimens have substantial growth potential and the ability to attain average ultimate heights 
and radial canopy spreads in excess of 20m and 8m respectively. It is therefore considered that 
any redevelopment of this site should take account of this fact, not just of their existing size, but 
also future growth potential in accordance with current BS 5837 guidance, to avoid the risk of 
detrimental long-term pruning/retention pressures, as far as reasonably possible. The 
applicant’s Arboricultural Report does not take account of this fact. 
 

  

52



Figure 4: Site’s northern and western boundary trees covered by TPO 
 

 
 
 
9.41 It is considered that the introduction of two dwellings on this site would result in additional 
pressure on the existing offsite northern and western boundary trees than a previous approval 
in 2006 for a single dwelling. It is considered, given their growth potential, that there would be 
increasing pressures to prune these trees in the future if this proposal for two dwellings were 
approved with smaller rear gardens. The tall boundary trees would also be likely to form an 
oppressive feature where the residential outdoor space is reduced as proposed.  
 
9.42 The Tree Officer confirms that the potential issues caused by the height of these boundary 
trees is likely to be exacerbated by the fact that they are growing on a mound. It is also 
considered that little consideration has been given to the potential shading cast by these trees 
as they mature limiting the amount of sunlight to the proposed rear gardens of the two dwellings 
now proposed.  This would increase the pressure on the boundary trees.  
 
9.43 It is concluded that the proposed development will have an adverse impact on trees which 
are considered to make an important contribution to the landscape character and appearance 
of the area and as such would be contrary to BFBLP Policies EN1, EN20 and Core Strategy 
Policy CS7.  
 
vi. Biodiversity implications 
 
9.44 CSDPD Policy CS1 seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity and CS7 seeks to enhance 
and promote biodiversity. These policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF which 
states that planning should contribute to "minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net 
gains in biodiversity" contributing to the Government's commitment to halt the overall decline in 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to 
current and future pressures. 
 
9.45 The Biodiversity Officer has reviewed the applicant’s Bat Mitigation Strategy and does not 
raise any objection to this proposal subject to securing by condition that no works shall 
commence until all the buildings/structures on the site have been further surveyed for the 
presence of bats, (in accordance with Ecology Partnership Bat Mitigation Strategy March 2019), 

and a scheme to mitigate the impact of the development on bats has been submitted. 
 
 
vii.  Thames Basin Heaths SPA  
 

53



9.46 This site falls outside the 5km threshold for the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection 
Area (SPA). 
 
Viii. Community infrastructure levy (CIL)  
 
9.47 Bracknell Forest Council commenced charging for its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
on 6th April 2015. CIL applies to new builds including those that involve the creation of 
additional dwellings.  
 
9.48 CIL is applied as a charge on each square metre of new development. The amount 
payable varies depending on the location of the development within the borough and the type of 
development. The charging schedule states how much CIL will be charged (in pounds per 
square metre of net additional floorspace) based on the development type and location within 
the borough.  
 
9.49 The proposal would be CIL liable. 
 
ix.  Sustainability 
 
9.50 Policy CS10 of the CSDPD requires the submission of a Sustainability Statement in 
relation to water usage. No Sustainability Statement has been submitted, however a planning 
condition is recommended in relation to the submission of a Sustainability Statement to satisfy 
the requirements of Policy CS10 of the CSDPD. 
 
9.51 Policy CS12 requires the submission of an Energy Demand Assessment in relation to 10% 
offset by renewable energy source. No Energy Demand Assessment has been submitted. A 
planning condition is recommended in relation to the submission of an Energy Demand 
Assessment to satisfy the requirements of Policy CS12 of the CSDPD. 
 
 
x.  Drainage 

 
9.52 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1. A condition is recommended to 
ensure that the hard surfaced areas proposed for access and on-site parking/turning 
are SuDS compliant. 
 
 
10. CONCLUSIONS 
 
10.1  It is consider that, by reason of its scale, mass, bulk and height, the development now 
proposed would have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development.  This means that it is unacceptable in principle and contrary to the Green Belt 
policy in the NPPF and policies GB1 of the Bracknell Forest Borough Local Plan and CS9 of the 
Core Strategy Development Plan Document and there are no ‘very special circumstances’ or 
other material considerations which indicate that planning permission should be granted for the 
development.  
  

10.2 The proposed development would also have an adverse impact on protected trees which 

are considered to make an important contribution to the landscape character and appearance 
of the area and as such would be contrary to BFBLP Policies EN1, EN20 and Core Strategy 
Policy CS7.  
 
 
 

54



11. RECOMMENDATION  
 
REFUSE the application subject to the following reasons: - 
 
 
01. This proposal constitutes development which is by definition inappropriate as it would be 

harmful to the openness of the Green Belt.  The proposed development by reason of its 
siting, scale, mass and bulk would have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
than the existing building on the site and would representing a cramped form of 
development to the detriment of the rural character and visual amenities of the Green Belt 
setting. The development is therefore contrary to Saved Policy GB1 of the Bracknell Forest 
Borough Local Plan, Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy Development Plan Document and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

02. The proposed development will have an adverse impact on protected trees considered to 
make an important contribution to the landscape character and appearance of the area and 
without any satisfactory mitigation to offset the loss of the Willow Tree and the pressure to 
prune the boundary trees in the future would be contrary to Policy CS7 Of the Core Strategy 
Policy and Saved Policies EN1, EN20 of the BFBLP and the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  
 

 
 
 
Informatives:  
 
01. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern with the proposal and discussing those with the 
Applicant.  However, the issues are so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been 
possible to negotiate a satisfactory way forward and due to the harm which has been clearly 
identified within the reasons for the refusal, approval has not been possible. 
 
02. This refusal relates to the following submissions: 
 
FD 18-1620-50 - Proposed Site Location Plan 
FD 18-1620-55 B - Proposed Site Layout 
FD 18-1620-56 B - Proposed External Works Plan 
FD 18-1620-301 B - Proposed Street Scene 
 
FD 18-1620-100 A - Proposed Plot1 Ground & First Floor Plans 
FD 18-1620-101 A - Proposed Plot1 Roof Plan 
FD 18-1620-105 A - Proposed Plot1 Front & Right Flank Elevations 
FD 18-1620-106 A - Proposed Plot1 Rear & Left Flank Elevations 
 
FD 18-1620-110 A - Proposed Plot2 Ground & First Floor Plans 
FD 18-1620-111 A - Proposed Plot2 Roof Plan 
FD 18-1620-115 A - Proposed Plot2 Front & Right Flank Elevations 
FD 18-1620-116 A - Proposed Plot2 Rear & Left Flank Elevations 
 

 
Doc. Ref: Uniform 7/DC/Agenda 
 
The application file to which this report relates can be viewed at the Council's Time Square office during office hours 
or online at www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



ITEM NO: 8 
Application No. 

19/00328/FUL 
Ward: 

Binfield With Warfield 
Date Registered: 

16 April 2019 
Target Decision Date: 

11 June 2019 
Site Address: Holm Wood Forest Road Binfield Bracknell Berkshire 

RG42 4HA 
Proposal: Erection of 3 no. 3 bedroom dwellings and associated access, 

parking, bin and cycle stores, following demolition of existing 
dwelling and outbuildings 

Applicant: Mr R Howell 
Agent: Mrs Emily Temple 
Case Officer: Alys Hughes, 01344 352000 

development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
Site Location Plan  (for identification purposes only, not to scale) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Bracknell Forest Borough Council 100019488 2004 

 

57

Agenda Item 8

mailto:development.control@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


OFFICER REPORT 
 

1. SUMMARY 
 
 
1.1  The proposed development relates to a site within the settlement boundary and is 
therefore acceptable in principle. The proposal would result in a net increase of 2no. family 
dwellings to contribute to the Council’s housing supply. 
 
1.2 The proposal would not adversely impact upon the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area. The proposal would not adversely affect the residential amenities of 
neighbouring dwellings and acceptable living conditions would be provided for future 
occupiers of the proposed dwellings. There would be no adverse highway safety 
implications.  
 
1.3 Relevant conditions will be imposed in relation to biodiversity and sustainability. The 
scheme is CIL liable.  
 

RECOMMENDATION  

Planning permission be granted subject to the conditions in Section 11 of this report 

 
 

2. REASON FOR REPORTING APPLICATION TO COMMITTEE 
 
2.1 The application has been reported to the Planning Committee as it was called in by Cllr 
Dudley and Cllr Bhandari following the 3-5 objection procedure and due to concerns 
regarding overdevelopment.  
 

3. PLANNING STATUS AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
 

PLANNING STATUS 

Within a defined settlement boundary 

 
3.1 The site currently consists of a detached bungalow situated on the northern side of 
Forest Road. Access is provided to the site from Forest Road which is a classified 'B' road. 
The site is bordered to the west by the property known as ‘Nether Avon’ (two storey semi-
detached) and to the east by ‘No.1 Pitch Place’ (two storey detached). Dwellings along Pitch 
Place also border the site to the rear.  
 
3.2 The surrounding area is residential, characterised by a mixture of detached, semi-
detached and flatted developments.  
 
3.3 The site is situated within a defined settlement boundary and is located in Area A 
(Binfield) of the Binfield and Popeswood Study Area within the Character Area Assessment 
SPD. The site is located more than 5km from the Thames Basin Heath SPA. There are no 
protected trees on site.  
 

4. RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
4.1 The most recent applications relating to the site are: 
 
Application 2209 - Application for dwellinghouse. Approved 1953 
 

58



Application 2290 - Erection of a bungalow. Approved 1954 
 
Application 17/00228/FUL - Erection of 2 x 4 bedroom dwellings and associated access, 
parking, bin and cycle stores, following demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings. 
Approved 2017 
 

5. THE PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 The proposed development is for the erection of 3 no. 3 bedroom dwellings and 
associated access, parking, bin and cycle stores, following demolition of existing dwelling 
and outbuildings.  
 
5.2 The proposed dwellings would consist of a two storey terrace of three houses which 
incorporate a half hipped roof with dormer windows on the rear roof slope and rooflights on 
the front. The dwellings would have a ridge height of approximately 8.6m and an eaves 
height of 5.05m.  At ground floor level, the dwellings would have a maximum depth of 11.5m 
and 9.4m at first floor.  
 
5.3 Each of the proposed dwellings would comprise of a kitchen, utility, living room/dining 
area, cloak room and hall on ground floor, two bedrooms and main bathroom on second 
floor, with the master bedroom and en-suite at second floor within the roofspace.  
 
5.4 The existing vehicular access would be relocated to a more central position along the 
front boundary. Each dwelling would be allocated two parking spaces in a communal parking 
layout to the front of the dwellings. 
 
5.5 Private rear gardens would be provided for each dwelling which includes a cycle store. 
Each dwelling would have a separate bin store area.  
 
5.6 The following elevation drawing from plan no.02 shows the difference between the 
previously approved scheme (hatched in red) and the current scheme: 
 

 

59



5.7 An amended site plan was received during the course of the application to include a gate 
at the bottom of the garden of plot 2. This was included to allow for an external access to the 
rear garden of this property following concerns raised regarding this in objections letters.  
 

6. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
 
Binfield Parish Council 
6.1 Recommend refusal for reasons set out below: 
 
1) This development is against Binfield Neighbourhood Plan Policy BF1 - Infill and backland 
development and will lead to the appearance of cramming and should be considered over 
development of the site. 
2) The scheme as proposed is unneighbourly creating lack of privacy due to overlooking 
windows. There is no commitment to obscured glass in the windows which will over look 
existing properties. 
 
Other Representations  
6.2 2 letters of objection have been received by the neighbouring properties. The concerns 
raised can be summarised as follows: 
 
- Additional pressure on roads and services in Binfield 
- Middle house has to take bikes through the house to the cycle store 
- People likely to park on Forest Road rather than using parking spaces provided 
especially when there are visitors 
- Previous objections from Binfield Parish Council on approved application 
17/00228/FUL 
- Windows on the side elevation of the dwelling serving bathrooms as well as the side 
access door will permit overlooking to Nether Avon 
- Contrary to Bracknell Forest Council and Binfield Parish Council policies and 
principles 
 

7. SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS RESPONSES 
 
Highways Officer 
7.1 No objection and recommends approval subject to conditions. 
 
Biodiversity Officer 
7.2 No objection subject to including a condition for biodiversity enhancements 
 
Renewable Energy Officer 
7.3  Comments that no Energy Demand Assessment been submitted with the application.  
 

8. MAIN POLICIES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO DECISION 
 
8.1 The key policies and guidance applying to the site and the associated policies are: 
 
 

 Development Plan NPPF 

General 
policies 

CP1 of SALP, CS1 & CS2 of CSDPD Consistent 

Design CS7 of CSDPD, Saved policy EN20 
of BFBLP, BF1 of Binfield 
Neighbourhood Plan 

Consistent 

Housing  CS15 of the CSDPD  Consistent 

60



Parking Saved policy M9 of BFBLP Consistent 
NPPF refers to LA’s setting 
their own parking standards 
for residential development, 
this policy is considered to 
be consistent. 

Transport CS23 of CSDPD Consistent 

Sustainability CS10 & CS12 of CSDPD Consistent 

SPA SEP Saved Policy NRM6, CS14 of 
CSDPD 

Consistent 

Trees, 
biodiversity 
and 
landscaping 

Saved policy EN1, EN2 and EN3 of 
BFBLP, CS1 of CSDPD. 

Consistent 

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 

Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (SPD) 

Design SPD 

Parking standards SPD 

Character Area Assessments SPD 

Other publications 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy 
Guidance (NPPG) 

CIL Charging Schedule 

Binfield Neighbourhood Plan (2016) 

 
 
 

9. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1 The key issues for consideration are: 
 
i. Principle of development 
ii. Impact on character and appearance of surrounding area 
iii. Impact on residential amenity 
iv. Impact on highway safety 
v. Biodiversity 
vi. Sustainability 
vii. Thames Basin Heath SPA 
viii. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
 
i) Principle of Development 
 
9.2 Policy CP1 of the Site Allocations Local Plan sets out that a positive approach should be 
taken to considering development proposals which reflect the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as set out in the NPPF, and that planning application that accord 
with the development plan for Bracknell Forest should be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. This is consistent with the NPPF. 
 
9.3 Holm Wood is located within the defined settlement boundary as designated by the 
Bracknell Forest Borough Policies Map. Development within a defined settlement is 
considered to be in accordance with Core Strategy Policies CS1 (Sustainable Development), 
CS2 (Locational Principles) and the NPPF subject to no adverse impacts upon residential 

61



amenities of neighbouring properties, character and appearance of surrounding area, 
highway safety implications, etc. These matters are assessed below.  
 
ii) Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area 
 
9.4 'Saved' policy EN20 of the BFBLP states that development should be in sympathy with 
the appearance and character of the local environment and appropriate in scale, mass, 
design, materials etc. Policy CS7 of the CSDPD states that the council would require high 
quality design for all development in Bracknell Forest. Development proposals would be 
permitted which build on the urban local character, respecting local patterns of development. 
Paragraph 124 of the NPPF emphasises the importance of good design as key to making 
places better for people to live. Additionally, paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that the 
design of development should help improve the character and quality of an area and the way 
it functions. 
 
9.5 Policy BF1 of the Binfield Neighbourhood Plan (Infill and Backland Development) is 
relevant to the proposal, which lists a number of considerations including that such 
development shall have a similar form of development to properties in the immediate 
surrounding area, shall not lead to an overdevelopment of the site and should avoid the 
appearance of cramming.  
 
9.6 The site is situated within Area A of the Binfield - Popeswood study area of the Character 
Area Assessment SPD (2010). The summary of the character of the area states that 
architecture and house types within the area are very varied and in most locations do not 
strongly influence the character. This assessment also recommends that small scale infill 
development should respect existing building lines and boundary treatments.  
 
9.7 The proposed development would increase the density of the site introducing two 
additional dwellings to the site which would result in three narrower plots than the existing 
one spacious plot. The width of the plot would be narrower than existing developments in the 
surrounding area however it is not considered that this alone would cause harm to the 
character and appearance of Holm Wood. Plot widths in the area vary and there is no 
specific mention in the Character Area Assessment SPD of the importance of consistency in 
plot width in the character of the area. Therefore, the subdivision of the existing plot into 
three narrower plots is considered acceptable. The subdivision into two plots has already 
been considered acceptable under planning permission 17/00228/FUL.  
 
9.8 The proposed dwellings, due to the increase height, scale and bulk in comparison to the 
existing bungalow, would appear more prominent on the site. The existing dwellings that 
adjoin the site are all two storey in height. As the maximum height of the dwellings would not 
exceed the height of the immediate neighbouring properties and as they would incorporate 
half hipped roofs, it is not considered that the degree of prominence would detract from the 
character and appearance of the street scene. The height of the proposed dwellings would 
also be lower than that of the dwellings already approved under 17/00228/FUL. The 
dwellings would be set back from the flank boundaries of the site allowing for opportunities 
for soft landscaping and rear access.  
 
9.9 The proposed parking layout to the front of the dwelling, due to the increased number of 
units, would require the majority of the front of the site to be hard surfaced. However, there 
are other examples of similar parking layouts along Forest Road with limited soft 
landscaping opportunities. 
 
9.10 The proposed use of materials has been outlined in the application as consisting of 
brick and tile. It is considered reasonable to include a condition on any permission to seek 

62



further details on the proposed use of materials to ensure that the development would blend 
in with existing developments in the locality.  
 
9.11 Based on the above assessment, it is not considered that the proposal would adversely 
affect the character and appearance of the surrounding area and would be in accordance 
with 'Saved' policy EN20 of the BFBLP, Policy CS7 of CSDPD, Policy BF1 of the Binfield 
Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF. 
 
iii) Residential Amenity 
 
9.12 'Saved' policy EN20 of the BFBLP states that development will not adversely affect the 
amenity of surrounding properties and adjoining area. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states 
that the Local Planning Authority should ensure a high standard of amenity for all existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 
9.13 Policy BF1 of the Binfield Neighbourhood Plan (Infill and Backland Development) states 
that it should be ensured that new buildings do not adversely affect neighbouring properties 
by seriously reducing the amount of daylight available through windows or by obstructing the 
path of direct sunlight to windows. Development proposals shall ensure that they do not 
unacceptably reduce the level of existing private amenity space provision for existing 
residential properties.  
 
9.14 The proposed dwellings, due to their proposed height and scale, would inevitably 
appear more prominent than the current bungalow on site when viewed from the 
neighbouring properties’ private amenity areas. However, it is not considered that this would 
be to a degree that would result in an overbearing appearance to the detriment of the 
enjoyment of these areas due to an appropriate balance between the proposed design, 
degree of projection and the set back from the shared boundaries.  
 
9.15 The proposed dwellings would sit closer to the shared boundaries with neighbouring 
properties than the existing and would project beyond their rear elevations. However, none 
of the applicable light angles would be breached when assessed in line with the guidance 
contained under paragraph 4.3.3 of the Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
Furthermore, there are no primary windows that serve habitable rooms situated within the 
flank elevations of neighbouring properties that would be affected.  
 
9.16 It is worth noting that the proposed dwellings would be set back further from the flank 
boundaries of the site and would be lower in height than the dwellings approved under 
17/00228/FUL.  
 
9.17 The primary windows of all the proposed dwellings would be situated on the front and 
rear elevations. A neighbour has raised concerns regarding the potential to overlook from 
the proposed first floor flank wall windows that serve bathrooms. As these do not serve 
habitable rooms and are primarily a source of light to these bathrooms, they can be 
conditioned to be obscurely glazed and non-opening below 1.7m above floor level.  It would 
also be reasonable to include a condition restricting any further windows being added on the 
flank elevation of the development at first floor level or above. The neighbour has also 
expressed reservations regarding the proposed ground floor flank elevations’ doors and 
windows however as these are at ground floor level they would not be readily visible beyond 
flank boundary fences.  
 
9.18 Based on the above, the proposal would not be considered to affect the residential 
amenities of neighbouring properties and would be in accordance with 'Saved' policy EN20 
of the BFBLP , Policy BF1 of the Binfield Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF. 
 

63



iv) Highways 
 
9.19 'Saved' policy M9 of the BFBLP ensures that development provides satisfactory parking 
provision. A further material consideration for parking provision is provided in the Council's 
adopted Parking Standards SPD. The NPPF advised under paragraph 109 that development 
should only be prevented or refused on highways ground if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 
 
9.20 The proposed access and parking layout is similar to planning permission 
17/00228/FUL and there are nearby examples of similar access and parking layouts along 
Forest Road.  
 
Access 
 
9.21 The new dwellings would take access off Forest Road, a local distributor road 
(Classified B-road), which is subject to a 30mph speed limit. A new vehicular access is 
proposed for access to a parking area, which would be central to the plot, and the existing 
access on the eastern side of the plot would be closed/removed. The site plan indicates that 
sight-lines of 2.4m by 90m could be achieved to either side of the proposed access (within 
the highway), in line with the requirements for a 30mph speed limit road. However, the site 
plan and street scene elevation show planting across the frontage and this will need to be 
kept at or below a height of 600mm to ensure sight-lines can be achieved. Also this would 
ensure pedestrian visibility splays would be provided for the safety of pedestrians. Details of 
visibility splays should be secured via planning condition.  
 
9.22 The proposed parking and access layout would enable vehicles, including domestic 
delivery vehicles, to turn within the site to exit onto this classified road in a forward gear. The 
proposed access is around 5m wide, which would enable two cars to pass and for a car to 
pass a pedestrian or cyclist. Also, the access is around 30m from the access to Pitch Place, 
and this is acceptable separation distance for residential accesses.  
 
9.23 Works to construct the vehicular access/dropped kerb are likely to require a street light 
and telegraph pole to be relocated at the expense of the applicant. The applicant would 
require the consent of the Highway Authority for vehicular access/dropped kerb works via 
Highway Licence. Pedestrian paths are proposed to the front doors of the properties and 
side/rear access is proposed for access to rear cycle parking. Residents would be able to 
haul their wheelie bins to the kerbside for collection.  
 
Parking 
 
9.24 6 parking spaces are proposed in line with the Council's parking standard for 3 no. 3 
bed dwellings. The parking spaces are shown on the Site plan and Street Scene elevation 
as 2.5m by 5m which slightly exceeds the Council's requirements; and 10m of access 
space/manoeuvring space is to be provided to enable vehicles to manoeuvre in and out of 
spaces and exit onto the highway in forward gear. 2 of the parking spaces nearest to the 
properties are adjacent to paths, which will assist access for disabled users. There is no 
dedicated visitor parking within the site, though occasional infrequent visitor parking could 
occur on-street without creating a highway safety issue. Cycle sheds are to be provided in 
back gardens.  
 
Trips 
 

64



9.25 Three dwellings are likely to generate in the region of 18 to 24 two-way trips per day 
including one or two movements in both peak periods. Holm Wood could generate 6 to 8 
movements at present.  
 
9.26 The conditions recommended by the Highways Officer are considered to be 
appropriate, relevant and necessary and will be included on any permission.  
 
v) Biodiversity 
 
9.27 Policies CS1 and CS7 of the CSDPD seek to protect and enhance the quality of natural 
resources including biodiversity. This is consistent with the objectives of the NPPF.  
 
9.28 A Bat Survey Report, dated September 2018 and produced by Drummond Ecology was 
submitted to support the application and has been reviewed by the Council's Biodiversity 
Officer. The bat survey report concludes that the building has negligible potential for bats 
and that there is no evidence of bats roosting. Therefore, no further information is required. 
The Biodiversity Officer has requested that a condition relating to biodiversity enhancements 
is included on any permission, which is considered reasonable in line with policies CS1, CS7 
and the NPPF.  
 
vi) Sustainability 
 
9.29 CSDPD Policy CS10 requires the submission of a Sustainability Statement 
demonstrating how the proposals meet current best practice standards for water efficiency 
aimed at achieving an average water use in new dwellings of 110 litres/person/day. No such 
statement has been submitted in support of the application, therefore a condition is 
recommended requiring the submission of a Sustainability Statement prior to the occupation 
of the development in accordance with CSDPD Policy CS10 and the NPPF.  
 
9.30 The Renewable Energy officer has made reference to CSDPD Policy CS12, which 
requires under paragraph 147 for development proposal for less than five net additional 
dwellings to provide at least 10% of their energy requirements from on-site renewable 
energy generation. As highlighted in the Council's Sustainable Resource Management 
Supplementary Planning Document (http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/srm), an energy 
demand assessment should be submitted and include the following: 
 

- An assessment of the predicted energy demand of the proposed development 
including all on-site energy requirements, such as street lights, car park lighting, 
heating and lighting of communal areas and lifts; 

- An assessment of the predicted C02 emissions generated by the proposal; 
- Key energy efficient design measures, including consideration of heating and cooling 

system; 
- Choice of renewable energy technology; 
- A summary of the above information. 

 
9.31 No such assessment has been submitted in support of the application, therefore a 
condition is recommended requiring the submission of an Energy Demand Assessment prior 
to the commencement of development in accordance with CSDPD Policy CS12 and the 
NPPF.  
 
vii) Thames Basin Heaths SPA 
 
9.32 The proposal site is located outside of the 5km buffer of the SPA and is not required to 
be assessed in this regard.  
 

65



viii) Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
9.33 Bracknell Forest Council introduced charging for its Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) on 6th April 2015. CIL is applied as a charge on each square metre of new 
development. The amount payable varies depending on the location of the development 
within the Borough and the type of development.  
 
9.34 CIL applies to any new build (except outline applications and some reserved matters 
applications that leave some reserved matters still to be submitted) including new build that 
involves the creation of additional dwellings.  
 
9.35 The development is CIL liable in accordance with the Council's CIL charging schedule 
as the proposal results in a net increase of two dwellings.  
 
ix) Other Considerations 
 
9.36 Bin stores have been provided for each dwelling to their front/side. Details on the scale 
and appearance of the stores has been provided and these are considered acceptable.  
 
 

10. CONCLUSIONS 
 
10.1 It is considered that the development would be acceptable in principle. It would not 
result in an adverse impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area or, 
highway safety, nor would the development result in a detrimental impact on the residential 
amenity or the neighbouring properties. The proposal is both lower in height and narrower in 
width than the building already permitted on the site under 17/00228/FUL.  It is therefore 
considered that the proposed development complies with 'Saved' policies EN1, EN8, GB1 
and EN20 of the BFBLP, Policies CS1, CS2, CS7 and CS9 of the CSDPD, Policy BF1 of the 
Binfield Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF.  
 
10.2 Therefore the application is recommended for conditional approval.  
 
11. RECOMMENDATION  
 
11.1 That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 

      REASON:  To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 

following approved plans received by the Local Planning Authority on 8th of April 
2019, 18th of April 2019 and 7th of June 2019: 
  
Site plan 
Location Plan 
Plans, Elevations and Section A-A, drawing no.21901-01 02 
Site Plan and Street Scene Elevation, drawing no.21901-1 01 Rev C (amended) 
 
REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 
Local Planning Authority 
 

3. No construction works shall take place until brick and tile samples to be used in the 
construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted have been 

66



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20, Core Strategy DPD CS7] 

 
4. No construction works shall take place until details showing the finished floor levels 

of the dwellings hereby approved in relation to a fixed datum point have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON: In the interests of the character of the area. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20, Core Strategy DPD CS7] 
 

5. No construction works shall take place until a scheme depicting hard and soft 
landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include details of the proposed maximum heights of the 
planting and include a 3 year post planting maintenance schedule.  
All planting comprised in the soft landscaping works shall be carried out and 
completed in full accordance with the approved scheme, in the nearest planting 
season (1st October to 31st March inclusive) to the completion of the development or 
prior to the occupation of any part of the approved development, whichever is 
sooner. All hard landscaping works shall be carried and completed prior to the 
occupation of any part of the approved development. As a minimum, the quality of all 
hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with British 
Standard 4428:1989 'Code Of practice For General Landscape Operations' or any 
subsequent revision. All trees and other plants included within the approved details 
shall be healthy, well-formed specimens of a minimum quality that is compatible with 
British Standard 3936:1992 (Part 1) 'Specifications For Trees & Shrubs' and British 
Standard 4043 (where applicable) or any subsequent revision.  Any trees or other 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, die, 
are removed, uprooted, are significantly damaged, become diseased or deformed, 
shall be replaced during the nearest planting season (1st October to 31st March 
inclusive) with others of the same size, species and quality as approved.  
REASON: In the interests of good landscape design and the visual amenity of the 
area. 
[Core Strategy DPD CS7, BFBLP 'Saved' Policies EN2 and EN20] 

 
6. The first floor and second floor windows in the east and west facing side elevations of 

the dwellinghouse hereby permitted shall not be glazed at any time other than with a 
minimum of Pilkington Level 3 obscure glass (or equivalent).  They shall at all times 
be non-opening unless the parts of the windows that can be opened are more than 
1.7m above the floor of the room they serve.  
REASON: To prevent the overlooking of neighbouring properties. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20] 

 
7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification) no additional windows, similar openings or 
enlargement thereof shall be constructed at first floor level and above in the east or 
west facing side elevations of the dwellings hereby permitted except for any which 
may be shown on the approved drawings.  
REASON: To prevent the overlooking of neighbouring property. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP EN20] 

 
8. No development shall be occupied until a means of vehicular access has been 

constructed in accordance with the approved plans. 

67



REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
[Relevant Policies: Core Strategy DPD CS23] 

 
9. No development shall be occupied until the associated vehicle parking and turning 

space has been set out in accordance with the approved drawing. The spaces shall 
thereafter be kept available for parking at all times. 
REASON: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate car parking to 
prevent the likelihood of on-street car parking which would be a danger to other road 
users. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP M9, Core Strategy DPD CS23] 

 
10. No development shall be occupied until secure and covered parking for bicycles has 

been provided in accordance with the approved drawings. They shall thereafter be 
retained as such.  
REASON: In order to ensure bicycle facilities are provided. 
[Relevant Policies: BFBLP M9, Core Strategy DPD CS23] 

 
11. No development shall take place until a scheme has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to accommodate: 
(a) Parking of vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors 
(b) Loading and unloading of plant and vehicles 
c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
(d) Wheel cleaning facilities 
(e) Temporary portacabins and welfare for site operatives 
and each facility shall be retained throughout the course of construction of the 
development, free from any impediment to its designated use.  No other areas on the 
site, other than those in the approved scheme shall be used for the purposes listed 
(a) to (e) above. 
REASON: In the interests of amenity and road safety. 

 
12. The demolition shall not be begun until a scheme for the provision of biodiversity 

enhancements (not mitigation), including a plan or drawing showing the location of 
these enhancements, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
The approved scheme shall be performed, observed and complied with. 
REASON: In the interests of nature conservation 
[Relevant Plans and Policies: CSDPD CS1, CS7] 

 
13. No part of any dwelling shall be occupied until a Sustainability Statement covering 

water efficiency aimed at achieving an average water use in new dwellings of 110 
litres/person/day, has been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
Sustainability Statement, as approved, and retained as such thereafter. 
REASON: In the interests of sustainability and the efficient use of resources. 
[Relevant Policy: Core Strategy DPD CS10] 

 
14. No construction works shall take place until an Energy Demand Assessment 

demonstrating that at least 10% of the development's energy will be provided from 
on-site renewable energy production, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The dwelling as constructed shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved assessment and retained as such thereafter.   
REASON: In the interests of sustainability and the efficient use of resources. 
[Relevant Policy: Core Strategy DPD CS12] 

 

68



15. The development shall incorporate surface water drainage that is SuDS compliant 
and in accordance with DEFRA "Sustainable Drainage Systems - Non-statutory 
technical standards for sustainable drainage systems" (March 2015).  It shall be 
operated and maintained as such thereafter.   
REASON: To prevent increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality 
and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage scheme. 
[Relevant Policies: CSDPD CS1, BFBLP EN25] 

 
Informative 
 

1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and 
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

2. Street Care Team should be contacted should be contacted at Time Square, Market 
Street, Bracknell, RG12 1JD, telephone 01344 352000, to agree the access 
construction details and to grant a licence before any work is carried out within the 
highway.  A formal application should be made allowing at least 4 weeks notice to 
obtain details of underground services on the applicant's behalf. This may require the 
relocation of the street light and telegraph pole at the expense of the applicant. 
 

3. The applicant is advised that the following conditions require discharging prior to 
commencement of development: 

a. 03. Materials 
b. 04. Finished floor levels 
c. 05. Hard and soft landscaping 
d. 11. Site organisation  
e. 12. Biodiversity 
f. 14. Energy Demand Assessment 
g.  
h. The following conditions require discharge prior to the occupation of the 

dwellings hereby approved: 
i. 08. Access 
j. 09. Vehicle parking and turning 
k. 10. Cycle store 
l. 13. Sustainability statement 
m.  
n. No details are required to be submitted in relation to the following conditions; 

however, they are required to be complied with: 
o. 01. Time limit 
p. 02. Approved plans 
q. 06. Obscure glazing 
r. 07. Restriction on windows 
s. 15. Drainage system(s) 

 
4.  It is suggested a minimum of 2k/wh size system is to be installed per property to 

make the system worthwhile for the long-term benefits of the occupiers. 

69



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	 Planning Applications
	5 PS Application No 19/00078/FUL - 115-117 Fernbank Road, Ascot
	6 Application No 19/00332/FUL - 56 King Edwards Road, Ascot
	7 Application No 19/00036/FUL - North Street Garage, North Street, Winkfield
	8 Application No 19/00328/FUL - Holm Wood, Forest Road, Binfield

